THE ROLE OF HOPE AND COPING STYLES IN OPTIMISM

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF SOCIAL SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

BY

SUEDA ÖZCAN CERAN

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL SCIENCES

JUNE 2013

Approval of the Graduate School of Social Sciences

Prof. Dr. Meliha Altunışık Director

I certify that this thesis satisfies all the requirements as a thesis for the degree of Master of Science.

Prof. Dr. Ayhan Demir Head of Department

This is to certify that we have read this thesis and that in our opinion it is fully adequate, in scope and quality, as a thesis for the degree of Master of Science.

Prof. Dr. Esin Tezer Supervisor

Examining Committee Members

Prof. Dr. Ayhan Demir Prof. Dr. Esin Tezer Prof. Dr. Ömer Geban

(METU, EDS) (METU, EDS) (METU, SSME)

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Last name : Sueda, Özcan Ceran

Signature :

ABSTRACT

THE ROLE OF HOPE AND COPING STYLES IN OPTIMISM

Özcan Ceran, Sueda M.S., Department of Educational Sciences Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Esin Tezer

June 2013, 75 pages

The present study investigated the role of hope and coping styles in optimism. Three instruments namely, Life Orientation Test (LOT), Dispositional Hope Scale (DHS) and Brief COPE scale were administered to 640 (457 females, 183 males) volunteered undergraduate students from one of the private universities in Istanbul. The results of hierarchical regression analysis revealed that agency and pathways dimensions of hope were significant predictors of optimism at model 1. After entry of coping styles at model 2, positive reframing, agency dimension of hope, venting, self-blame, behavioral disengagement, acceptance and denial were found to be as significant predictors of optimism. Findings are discussed in the light of optimism, hope and coping literature.

Keywords: Optimism, hope, coping styles

UMUT VE BAŞA ÇIKMA TARZLARININ İYİMSERLİK ÜZERİNDEKİ ROLÜ

ÖΖ

Özcan Ceran, Sueda Yüksek Lisans, Eğitim Bilimleri Bölümü Tez Danışmanı: Prof. Dr. Esin Tezer

Haziran 2013, 75 sayfa

Bu çalışmada umut ve başa çıkma tarzlarının iyimserlik üzerindeki rolü incelenmiştir. Bu amaçla, İstanbul'daki bir vakıf üniversitesinden araştırmaya katılmaya gönüllü 640 (457 kız, 183 erkek) lisans öğrencisine Yaşam Yönelimi Testi, Umut Ölçeği, Stresle Başa Çıkma Tarzları Ölçeği-Kısa Formu uygulanmıştır. Hiyerarşik regresyon analizi sonuçları, ilk modelde Umut Ölçeğinin "amaca ulaşma kapasitesi" ve "amaca güdülenme" alt boyutlarının iyimserliği anlamlı düzeyde yordadığını göstermiştir. İkinci modelde başa çıkma tarzları eşitliğe sokulduğunda, "olumlu bilişsel yapılama", "amaca güdülenme", "duyguları açığa vurma", "kendini suçlama", "davranışsal kaçınma", "kabul etme" ve "inkar etme" boyutlarının iyimserliğin anlamlı yordayıcıları olduğu görülmüştür. Bulgular, iyimserlik, umut ve başa çıkma literatürü ışığında tartışılmıştır.

Anahtar sözcükler: İyimserlik, umut, başa çıkma tarzları

V

To my little baby *Mahir Efe...*

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like express my gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Esin Tezer for her supervision and support throughout my graduate education. Without her precious contributions, this study would never become real. I feel myself very lucky since I had a chance to work with a knowledgeable, helpful and genuine supervisor who positively contributed to me as a young academician.

In addition, I would like to thank to my dissertation committee members Prof. Dr. Ayhan Demir, Prof. Dr. Ömer Geban and Prof. Dr. Esin Tezer for their valuable suggestions and comments.

I want to thank to my colleagues especially Çiğdem Topçu, Duygu Yumurtacı, Gökçe Sancak and Eda Çürükvelioğlu for their suggestions and contributions during my thesis. I also owe my special thanks to my best friends Sevde, Gülcan and Azra for their friendship and courage.

I am very grateful to my family for their love and endless support. Especially, to my mother who were always with me and who took care of my baby. She always believed in my success and added to my personal and academic development.

Last but certainly not least, I would like to thank to my only love Serdar and my little son Mahir Efe for their patience, warmth and courage. I feel myself very lucky since I have such a wonderful family.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PLAGIARISM	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
ÖZ	v
DEDICATION	vi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LIST OF TABLES	x
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
CHAPTER	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Background of the Study	1
1.2. Purpose of the Present Study	5
1.3. Significance of the Study	6
1.4. Definition of Variables	7
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1. Conceptualization of Optimism	
2.2. Definition of Hope	
2.3. Research on Optimism and Hope	15
2.4. Definition of Coping Strategies	
2.5. Research on Optimism and Coping Strategies	
2.6. Turkish Studies in Optimism, Hope and Coping Strategies	
3. METHOD	
3.1. Participants	
3.2. Data Collection Instruments	
3.2.1. Demographic Information Form	
3.2.2. Life Orientation Test	
3.2.2.1. Construct Validity of LOT for the Present Study	
3.2.2.2. Reliability of LOT for the Present Study	

3.2.3. The Dispositional Hope Scale	35
3.2.3.1. Construct Validity of DHS for the Present Study	35
3.2.3.2. Reliability of DHS for the Present Study	37
3.2.4. Brief COPE scale	37
3.2.4.1. Construct Validity of Brief COPE for the Present Study	38
3.2.4.2. Reliability of Brief COPE for the Present Study	39
3.3. Procedure	40
3.4. Analysis of Data	41
3.5. Limitations	41
4. RESULTS	42
4.1. Preliminary Analysis of the Data	42
4.2. Descriptive Statistics of the Variables	43
4.3. Bivariate Correlation Matrices of the Variables	46
4.4. Assumption Checks for Hierarchical Regression Analysis	47
4.5. Results of Hierarchical Regression Analysis	49
5. DISCUSSION	52
5.1. Discussion of the Results	52
5.2. Implications of the Findings	55
5.3. Recommendations for Future Research	57
REFERENCES	59
APPENDICES	70
APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION FORM (in Turkish)	70
APPENDIX B: LIFE ORIENTATION TEST (LOT) (in Turkish)	71
APPENDIX C: DISPOSITIONAL HOPE SCALE (DHS) (in Turkish)	72
APPENDIX D: BRIEF COPE SCALE (in Turkish)	73
APPENDIX E: TEZ FOTOKOPİSİ İZİN FORMU	75

LIST OF TABLES

TABLES

Table 3.1 Factor Loadings of LOT Items	34
Table 3.2 Factor Loadings of DHS Items	36
Table 3.3 Factor Loadings of Brief COPE Items	38
Table 3.4 Cronbach Alpha Coefficients for the Subscales of Brief COPE Items	40
Table 4.1 Means and Standard Deviations of the Major Variables by Gender	43
Table 4.2 Correlation Matrix of Study Variables	46
Table 4.3 Hierarchical Regression Analysis Summary for Variables Predicting	
Optimism	49

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURES

Figure 4.1 Histogram and normal probability plot residuals for optimism	. 48
Figure 4.2 Scatter plots of predicted value and residuals	. 48

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background of the Study

Throughout the history, psychology seek answer to the questions of "what is wrong" rather than "what is right?". It focused its attention to the shortcomings of individuals and aimed to fix the problems. However, recently, there has been substantial interest in understanding how the individual potentials and positive thinking contribute to the well-being of people with more focus on now and future rather than the past (Boniwell, 2012).

In recent decades, the association between having positive expectations about future and coping with daily hassles became great curiosity among researchers. According to Scheier and Carver (1985) generalized expectations for the future which they named as either optimism or pessimism is essential in understanding the human behavior. They claimed that human behavior is shaped by the value of the goals, for which, people either fit their behavior to reach the wished goals or keep away themselves from anti-goals. In addition, confidence in attaining the desired goals also determines the human action. People who see their wished goals as attainable keep on exerting effort to get those goals, even when getting them is so difficult. On the other hand, when the goals are unattainable due to personal insufficiency or external obstacles, people disengage from their goal pursuit. That is to say, optimistic people who have positive expectancies about future will be more confident in their goal pursuit even in the face of adversity. On the contrary, pessimists will doubt about reaching them, thus, they may stop, withdraw or do not take action (Carver & Scheier, 1981; Scheier & Carver, 1993). Optimism has been usually mixed with a concept of hope. According to Snyder et al. (1991) hope is "a cognitive set that is based on a reciprocally derived sense of successful agency (goal-directed determination) and pathways (planning to meet goals)" (p. 572). In order to attain their desired goals, people need to have motivation to start and maintain the goal directed action, plus mental plans that direct hopeful thinking. Hence, according to hope theory, both agency and pathways thinking are essential and iterative for goal directed activity, without one goal pursuit starts to stagnate (Snyder, 1994, 1995; Snyder, Feldman, Shorey, & Rand, 2002). Hope differs from optimism due to its direct focus on personal agency and producing alternative paths when dealing with stress though they resemble to each other in explaining generalized expectations about future (Snyder, Sympson, Micheal, & Cheavens, 2001). Literature reveals that hope predicts various significant outcomes ranging from physical and psychological health to performance in academia and sports (see Snyder et al., 2002 for a review).

Although optimism and hope have been examined with various concepts, studies that investigate the relationships between two are so novel in university samples. According to Gallagher and Lopez (2009) while the two constructs mostly used interchangeably in ordinary talk, they are distinct constructs each predicted various components of well-being. Gallagher and Lopez stated that optimism was more strongly related with hedonic well-being (positive affect, negative affect life satisfaction) and social well-being (social coherence, social integration, social contribution, social acceptance, social actualization), while, hope was more strongly related with eudaimonic well-being (environmental mastery, positive relations, purpose in life, self acceptance). In a different study, Alarkon, Bowling, and Khazon (2013) examined the optimism and hope and found high correlation between optimism, hope and sub-dimensions of hope (agency and pathways) though this associations were less than .80 that indicated their distinctive features. Moreover, they found positive associations between optimism, life satisfaction, happiness, general psychological well-being and general physical health, while, there were inverse relations between optimism, depression and anxiety. Conversely, hope was positively related to happiness, though, it was negatively related with depression and stress. Magaletta and Oliver (1999) explored the associations of optimism and hope

and also found positive relations between two. Rand (2009) in his study analyzed the influence of hope and optimism on grade expectancy and academic performance among university students. He found strong positive correlations between optimism and hope while the latter influenced the participants' specific goal expectation (final class grade). In a different study, Rand, Martin, and Shea (2011) examined the relationship of initial levels of hope and optimism with later academic performance and life satisfaction of students. Again, they found positive high correlations between optimism and hope, while two constructs distinctively predicted greater life satisfaction at the end of the first semester. Also, hope -rather than optimism-predicted better academic success.

Though the research examining the associations between optimism and hope among university students are scarce, there are various studies that analyze the students' coping responses with their expectations about future outcomes. According to Lazarus and Folkman (1984) coping is "constantly changing cognitive and behavioral efforts to manage specific external and internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person" (p. 141). Lazarus and Folkman divided coping into two components which are problem-focused coping and emotion-focused coping. In problem-focused coping, person takes active role to change the situation so as to reduce or eliminate the stressor. Planning, seeking advice or assistance, taking direct action are some examples of this coping strategy. However, in emotion-focused coping -rather than changing the situation- person tries to lessen the emotional stress such as by getting moral support from others, accepting or denying the reality of the situation, turning to religion or not dealing with stressor actively. According to Lazarus and Folkman people may use both problem-focused and emotion-focused strategies in dealing with stressors and both may add to the people's lives.

Roth and Cohen (1986) classified coping strategies into two: approach coping and avoidance coping. In the former one, person takes active role to change the situation, whilst this type of coping is principally noteworthy in controllable conditions. Besides, in uncontrollable situations people may lessen their stress or thwart their anxiety by using avoidance coping means. According to Roth and Cohen, these

strategies have both benefits and costs for individuals and may be prioritized or used combined. For instance, while some aspects of a situation are approached others may be avoided. Hence, people cannot be categorized either approachers or avoidant coppers in view of the fact that nearly every person uses some strategies from each coping means.

Aspinwall and Taylor (1997) also formulated coping strategies with a different perspective which they named as proactive coping. In proactive coping, person takes precautions for potential stressors before it occurs and gets readied by using active coping strategies like planning, seeking support as such. It not only decreases the pressure on the person, but also lessens his/her stress level, and prompts to efficient use of coping means with possible problems.

According to Scheier and Carver (1992) when people faced with trouble, they either carry on their behavior or give up and turn away. With this frame, optimists are regarded as those who persist in their attempt and see the outcome as within reach even in difficulty. Nevertheless, pessimists see outcomes as out of reach, thus they may easily call off and draw away from their goals when faced with hindrance. Optimists' use of adaptive coping means make them closer to their wished goals and enhance their life. In uncontrollable situations they accept the reality, construe the stressor with positive term and ease by using coping tactics such as humor or support from others, but, if the situation is controllable they take active role to alter the stressor (Carver, Scheier, & Segerstrom, 2010).

Optimism and coping has been examined in various groups of people such as patients, workers, caregivers, mothers as well as students (see Carver et al., 2010 for a review). When the studies that were carried with university students examined, it is seen that being an optimistic student revealed coping advantage over pessimistic ones. For example, Carver, Scheier, and Weintraub (1989) in their study found positive relations between optimism and active coping, planning, restraint coping, positive reinterpretation, acceptance, turning to religion and seeking instrumental support, while, they found negative relations of optimism with venting, denial, behavioral disengagement, mental disengagement, and substance use. In a different

study, researchers found that optimistic students were using problem-focused coping in controllable situations, while they resort to more emotion-focused coping strategies in uncontrollable situations (Scheier, Weintraub, & Carver, 1986). Moreover, Brisette, Scheier, and Carver (2002) found inverse relations between optimism, stress and depression while optimists reported high perceived on campus social support. Krypel and Henderson-King (2010) indicated that optimism negatively predicted perceived stress and disengagement coping while it positively predicted sociality among university students. Also, they stated that optimistic students see the university as an opportunity for personal growth. Optimism also revealed an inverse relations with psychopathology and avoidance coping tactics (Hatchett & Park, 2004), though it showed positive relationship with better physical (Aspinwall & Taylor, 1992) and mental health (Segerstrom, Taylor, Kemeny, & Fahey, 1998).

As mentioned above, hopeful thinking has not been studied with optimism among university students widely, though there are variety of studies that explored the association between coping strategies and optimism. Nevertheless, the literature revealed the hope and coping strategies as distinctive important correlates of optimism which may not only result in better challenge with stressors but also contribute to students' goal attainment. Given these crucial associations between hope, coping strategies and optimism and lack of research that explored the relationship of all, it was thought that further research is needed to assess the connections between these constructs. Therefore, in the present study, it was hypothesized that hope and coping strategies would significantly predict the optimism level of university students.

1.2. Purpose of the Present Study

The purpose of this study is to explore the relationships among agency and pathways dimensions of hope, fourteen dimensions of coping styles and optimism as well as to find out the contributions of agency and pathways dimensions hope, and a unique contribution of coping strategies (active coping, planning, seeking social support for instrumental reasons, seeking social support for emotional reasons, venting, behavioral disengagement, self-distraction, positive reframing, denial, acceptance, religion, substance use, humor and self-blame) when controlling of the first group of variables in the prediction of optimism.

Research Questions

- 1 To what extent optimism is predicted by agency and pathways dimensions of hope as measured by Dispositional Hope Scale?
- 2 To what extent optimism is uniquely predicted by coping strategy dimensions of active coping, planning, seeking social support for instrumental reasons, seeking social support for emotional reasons, venting, behavioral disengagement, self-distraction, positive reframing, denial, acceptance, religion, substance use, humor and self-blame as measured by Brief COPE scale?

1.3. Significance of the Study

In the present study, the role of agency and pathways dimensions of hope and coping strategies in predicting optimism was examined with a sample of undergraduate university students. During university life, students face with several challenges. They not only separate from their families, adjust to university, make friendships, make up their budgets, work on their lessons but also need to decide on important decisions about themselves, their career, intimate relationships and future life. Hence, even though university life offers various opportunities to develop personally and contribute to students' independence, they also face with difficulties and still need to carry on their desired goals and stay away from the ones not desired. Thus, the importance of the present study is twofold: research and counseling practices.

Regarding research, this study is significant when considering two lines of research. First, when the literature is reviewed it became obvious that studies related to optimism have been accumulated in the field of health psychology (see Carver et al., 2010 for a review). That is, in the literature, most of the studies on optimism carried out with the clinical sample. Thus, the findings of the present study provide some evidence for non-clinical sample. Secondly, although there are various studies that investigate the optimism and coping strategies used by students (i.e. Scheier et al., 1986) there are limited number of studies that investigate the optimism, hope and coping strategies together (i.e. Robinson & Snipes, 2009). Thus, more evidence is needed regarding how hope together with which coping strategies contribute to the optimism level of university students. Hence, it is believed that this study is worth to be done with the aim of understanding underlying mechanisms that may contribute to the optimism level of students.

The findings of the study are also significant for counseling practices. Firstly, the results of the present study may provide important information for counselors in understanding the students' use of hopeful thinking and active coping strategies in dealing with stressors that energize the students' optimistic orientations. Based on these knowledge and several other suggestions of the counseling researchers, in individual and group counseling processes counselors may motivate students by assisting them to define and finally implement clear, specific, attainable, important and also challenging goals (Geers, Wellman, & Lassiter, 2009; Geers, Wellman, Seligman, Wuyek, & Neff, 2010; Locke & Latham, 2002; Wesson & Derrer-Rendall, 2011). Counselors make use of variety of techniques that add to hopeful thinking ranging from identifying and choosing goals that are meaningful and applicable for students, setting clear end points to selected goals, replacing self-defeating statements with more constructive ones to aiding students to determine plans for attaining those goals (Snyder et al., 2002). Thus, it may be concluded that, counselors may assist students to determine important, personally relevant, challenging and moderately difficult goals to keep and sustain their motivation, also, they may assist students to use various ways when faced with barriers. Moreover, counselors may develop group training programs to teach students valuable tools and skills to overcome potential stressors in their goal-pursuit by combining optimism, hopeful thinking and coping strategies (see Barrow, 1982; Brown, 1983; Gillham, Reivich, Jaycox, & Seligman, 1995; Salzgeber, 2012). Thus, rather than offering generic group training programs, specially customized ones that aim to increase generalized positive expectations about future and teaching efficient coping strategies are more appropriate to meet the needs of the students.

1.4. Definition of Variables

The dependent variable of the present study is dispositional optimism. Independent variables are agency and pathways dimensions of hope and coping strategy

dimensions namely active coping, planning, seeking social support for instrumental reasons, seeking social support for emotional reasons, venting, behavioral disengagement, self-distraction, positive reframing, denial, acceptance, religion, substance use, humor and self-blame.

Optimism: refers to the general belief of favorable expectancies will happen for the future. It is measured by Life Orientation Test (LOT) (Scheier & Carver, 1985).

Hope: refers to the general cognitive-motivational variable including one's belief in which one utilizes pathways thinking and agency thinking (Snyder, 1994). It is measured by Dispositional Hope Scale (Snyder et al., 1991) which is composed of two subscales.

Pathways: refers to the degree of perceived capacity to find routes to desired goals (Snyder, 1994).

Agency: refers to the degree of motivation to use the routes in order to reach desired goals (Snyder, 1994).

Coping Style: refers to the degree of general style in coping how one usually manages stressful life events. It is measured by COPE scale which is composed of 14 subscales developed by Carver et al. in 1989.

Active coping: is the process of taking active steps for removal or decrease its effects. It includes initiating direct action, increasing one's effort, and trying to execute a coping attempt in stepwise fashion.

Planning: is the process of thinking of how to cope with stressor. It involves coming up with action strategies, thinking about what steps to take and how best to handle the problem.

Using instrumental support: seeking advice, assistance or information.

Using emotional support: refers to getting moral support, sympathy, or understanding.

Venting: the tendency to focus on whatever distress or upset one is experiencing and to ventilate those feeling.

Behavioral disengagement: refers to reducing one's effort to deal with the stressor, even giving up the attempt to attain goals with which the stressor is interfering. It is similar to helplessness.

Self-distraction: refers to the focus more explicitly on doing things to take one's mind off the stressor.

Positive reframing: refers to the indication of construing a stressful transaction in positive terms that should intrinsically lead the person to continue active, problem-focused coping actions.

Acceptance: refers to the acceptance of impinges on two aspects of the coping process. Acceptance of a stressor as real occurs in primary appraisal. Acceptance of a current absence of active coping strategies relates to secondary appraisal.

Denial: refers to the report of refusal to believe that the stressor exists or of trying to act as though the stressor is not real.

Religion: serves as a source of emotional support, as a vehicle for positive reinterpretation, and growth, or tactic of active coping with a stressor.

Substance use: includes using alcohol or any substances such as drugs.

Humor: measures humor and making fun of the stressor.

Self-blame: refers to the tendency to criticize oneself.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter presents the literature related with optimism, hope and coping strategies. The first section is devoted to the presentation of conceptualization of optimism. The second section presents the definition of hope. The third section includes research on the relationship between optimism and hope. The fourth section presents the definition of coping strategies. The fifth section reviews the research on the relationship between optimism and coping strategies. Finally, in the sixth section, Turkish studies in optimism, hope and coping strategies are presented.

2.1. Conceptualization of Optimism

Optimism is a trait that explains people having generalized positive expectancies for their future. On the other hand, pessimism is expecting bad things to happen (Scheier & Carver, 1985). The determinants of optimism are twofold: nature and nurture. It is believed that personal differences in optimism and pessimism may be inherited. In a study that is done with 500 same sex pairs of middle-aged Swedish twins, the heritability of optimism, and pessimism was estimated 25% by using different estimation methods (Plomin et al., 1992). On the other hand, it is claimed that environmental factors may also have an effect on personal expectancies for the future. One of them is; previous experiences of achievements make one to anticipate successes in the future, or the other way around. The other one is, parenting that affect children by modeling either in an optimistic or pessimistic manner. Parents who are optimistic about their future and who use adaptive coping tactics are modeling their children in a way that breeds their outlook about their future. Therefore, it may be concluded that differences in optimism pessimism is both

related to genetic and environmental factors (Carver et al., 2010; Scheier & Carver, 1993).

The theoretical ground of optimism stems from expectancy value theories that explain the motivation process with two aspects. Firstly, expectancy value theories assume that behavior is determined by goals. If the goals are desirable, people arrange their behaviors to attain them, if not, they will distance themselves. The significance of the goals also determines its value for the person. Having a valued goal gives reason to people to take action in life, though, without having one they do not have any motivation to move. Secondly, it is presumed that expectancy that is the confidence that the goals may be attained is also crucial for person to take steps in the pursuit of them. If the people are confident, they will move toward their goal even when faced with difficulty. However, if they have doubt about reaching their goals, they may withdraw, stop or never take action. In addition, they may see those goals as out of reach (Carver & Scheier, 2001; Carver et al., 2010; Scheier, Carver, & Bridges, 2001).

The expectancy may vary in specificity and can be applied to narrow contexts to (going grocery to have some foods) to broader ones (being able to make an elegant food). According to expectancy motivation theory, it is claimed that to make good forecasting about behavior it is crucial to analyze them in different levels. However, people face various situations that are known or unknown to them. It is proposed that generalized expectations are especially useful to consider in predicting the people's behavior where they do not have any experience or some develop in time. Upon considering optimism, the expectancy construct is broader and disperse. That is, when optimistic people faced with adversity, they will assume that problem can be handled somehow and show confident and persistent attitude in the goal attainment process. However, pessimistic people will be doubtful or even expect catastrophe in adverse situations. The diversity of people's behaviors when faced with difficulty also gives crucial inferences about their coping behaviors (Carver & Scheier, 2001, 2002; Carver et al., 2010).

Expectancies may be measured in two ways. One of them is measuring them indirectly with inspecting attributional style which presumes that people's expectations regarding their future are a result of their interpretation of the past. If people think that the prior failures are stable, global, internal to the self, and influence various situations they are called pessimistic. Pessimistic people will have an idea that negative outcomes will continue to happen in the future. On the contrary, those that explain negative events as unstable, specific, ineffective, external to the self are called optimistic. Since optimistic people see past failures as unstable, they think of future in a positive way because the reason for failure may not be present in the upcoming days. To illustrate, if one attributes failure to his/her lack of ability, s/he will expect to continue to fail in the future, however, if s/he attributes his/her failure to a sleepless night day before, s/he will not combine it to the upcoming days. The other measurement method is asking people directly their general tendency whether they expect good or bad outcomes in the future. For instance, Life Orientation Test (LOT) (Scheier & Carver, 1985) consists of various positively and negatively worded items that asks questions about people's expectations about their future. Expectancies that are general and diffuse for the person are called as either optimism or pessimism. LOT scale revealed that optimism scores demonstrated stable characteristic across time, though, there seemed some variations for some people when confronted with threat (Carver et al., 2010; Scheier et al., 2001; Scheier & Carver, 1992, 1993).

In this research, Life Orientation Test (LOT) is used while examining the general expectancies of people.

2.2. Definition of Hope

Stotland defines hope theory as the person's cognitive analysis of goal related outcomes where he explain hope as "an expectation greater than zero of achieving goal" (1969, p. 2). According to him, hope reflects person's perception of goal attainment, though selected goals should have at least some degree of importance for person. In contrast, Averill and his colleagues (1990) defines hope as an emotion with cognitive rules where it is seen appropriate if it has some degree of importance,

socially acceptable, attainable and under some control (as cited in Snyder, 1995, p. 355-356).

On the other hand, Snyder et al. (1991) defines hope as "a cognitive set that is based on a reciprocally derived sense of successful agency (goal-directed determination) and pathways (planning to meet goals)" (p. 572). In other words, hope is the sum of the mental willpower and waypower that one has for goals (Snyder, 1994, p. 5). The agency part of the hope theory resembles to efficacy expectancy that explain a belief in one's capability to initiate and continue goal directed behavior. It eventually influence the one's perceived ability to generate various routes (pathways) to wished goals where the interaction of two results in outcome expectancy about selected goals (Snyder et al., 2001).

Hope consists of three elements which are goals, pathways thinking and agency thinking (Snyder et al., 2002). Goal is the first cognitive component of hope theory. Goals are anything person wishes to obtain (e.g. object) or attain (e.g. success) where these may be either very concrete (e.g. desire for a new coat) or vague (e.g. searching meaningful life). Person may set goals in a short run like finishing a paper or long run such as losing weight. Goals should have some degree of importance to pursue; in addition, it should be neither too easy nor too difficult to follow. It is because very high or low probability of goal attainment is so determined where there is no need for hopeful thinking (Snyder, 1994, 2002).

So as to attain their desired goals, people need to have mental plans that direct hopeful thought. Pathways thinking is a perception of person's engagement in planful contemplation and it may be affected by goals. Concreteness and importance of goals make it easier to use pathways since they prompt to planfulness. Pathways thinking may be enhanced by prior achievements where new routes to goals were already formed to overcome faced obstacles (Snyder, 1994, 2002).

Since not all the plans toward goal attainment may be successful, person high in hope generates various strategies with the aim of surmounting potential barriers (Snyder et al., 2002). People with high pathways thinking believe that there are various ways to reach goals, thus, they may change their mentality in order to fit to the specific needs

of the goal and face with barriers bravely. Conversely, low pathways thinking people feel stuck when met with blockages in their goal pursuit (Snyder, 1994).

Hope theory emphasizes that both pathways thinking and agency thinking are essential and iterative for goal-directed activity (Snyder, 1995) without one goal pursuit process starts to stagnate (Snyder et al., 2002). For instance, Snyder (1994) claims that person high in agency but low in pathways may become bogged down in producing necessary steps to reach his/her goal, though, s/he may be so eager or determined. On the other hand, person low in agency but capable of generating many routes may be planful but have trouble in motivating himself/herself to move. According to Snyder (1994), one who is both high in agency and pathways for his/her desired goals represents high hopeful person who have advantages in difficult times. He mentions that, when faced with adversity high hope people think of alternative routes to reach their goals and apply the one that works best. In other words, high hope people use their energy to an efficient alternative path.

Though hope model has a cognitive orientation, it does not discard the emotions. High hope people who are also high both in agency and pathways see their goals as challenging, focus on success and as a result experience positive emotions. On the contrary, low hope people will approach their goals with hesitation, experience negative emotions and focus on failure (Snyder, 1995). Therefore, it may be concluded that though hope is a cognitive concept, emotions are the residue of it; where the quality of them depends on one's perception of hope in his/her goal pursuit (Snyder et al., 1991).

Snyder et al. (1991) state that hope is relatively stable across time and it is not simply goal-directed process (Snyder et al., 2002). Besides it is a hierarchically organized system of beliefs that considers person's ability to efficiently carry on thinking process. Such beliefs can be categorized into three specific levels which are global or trait hope, domain-specific hope and goal-specific hope. Snyder et al. (2002) suggests that assessment of the whole hope hierarchy is essential since each level influence each other that may also give crucial information to counselors.

Global or Trait Hope: People's overall evaluation of their ability to generate sufficient agency and effectual pathways are called as global or trait hope. It does not focus on specific goal attainment; conversely, it is an appraisal of one's capability to reach goals in general (Snyder et al., 2002). Global or trait hope can be measured by using Adult (Snyder et al., 1991) and child versions of Hope Scale (Snyder et al., 1997).

Domain-Specific Hope: Though person may be high in global hope, still s/he may have low hope in one or more life arenas. To fill this gap, Domain Specific Hope Scale (Sympson, 1999, as cited in Snyder et al., 2002) was developed to assess adolescents' and adults' hope level in six life domains which are social relationship, romantic relationship, family life, academics, work and leisure.

Goal-Specific Hope: Even though person may be high in global or domainspecific hope, it is still likely her/him to have low hope about specific goal (e.g. difficulty in generating sufficient agency and pathways in math course to get A). For this reason, it is essential to understand perceived shortages about specific goals (Snyder et al., 2002). Snyder et al. (1996) developed State Hope Scale to measure one's thinking in here and now time frame (Snyder, 1994) that assess one's hope level about particular goals.

In this research, global/trait hope scale is used with the aim of assessing participants' overall hope level.

2.3. Research on Optimism and Hope

Although literature revealed that optimism and hope share some similarities like they are constructed within an expectancy value theory frame, conceptualized as somewhat enduring characteristic, explain general expectations about future and also LOT scale and Hope scale exhibit stability in both short and long term, they have a distinction. Optimism model focus on agency-like expectancies in goal pursuit, whereas in hope theory pathways component of goal thinking is added. However, even there is no pathways component in optimism model, LOT scale items implicitly measures the pathways component as well. In addition optimism explained as "generalized outcome expectancies" (Scheier & Carver, 1985, p. 219) whereas

Snyder et al. (1991) described hope as "a cognitive set that is based on a reciprocally derived sense of successful agency (goal-directed determination) and pathways (planning to meet goals)" (p. 572). When the two contrasted, it is obvious that hope clearly relates with personally initiated acts, though optimists believe either by personal ability, luck or because s/he is favored by others, good things will happen (see Snyder et al., 2001 for a review). When the literature analyzed, it is seen that there is a variety of research that investigates optimism and hope with different constructs among university students, however, there is a limited number of research that directly analyze the relationship between two. Therefore, below some of the findings that straightly analyze the relationship between optimism and hope are summarized.

In a recent study, Alarkon et al. (2013) studied the optimism and hope construct by using meta analytic examination. They hypothesized that optimism and hope will represent related, but distinct constructs; both of them will be positively related to psychological and physical well-being; and they will not be redundant with more established personality characteristics.

Researchers found that, even though optimism has a positive relationship with hope ($\rho = .69$), and also agency ($\rho = .67$) and pathways ($\rho = .60$) sub-scales of hope, the magnitude of these corrected relationships was less than .80, which proposes that two constructs were distinct. In addition, as a result of first hypothesis, optimism gave in considerably stronger positive associations with positive affect, self-esteem, and self-efficacy while it was inversely associated with negative affect. On the contrary, hope -rather than optimism- gave in considerably stronger positive association with stress. Optimism and hope showed similar negative associations with depression. In addition, they found that the two constructs were related to psychological and physical well-being. Optimism was positively related to life satisfaction, happiness, general psychological well-being, general physical health and it was inversely related with anxiety and depression. On the other hand, hope was positively related with happiness, but negatively related with depression and stress.

Researchers also predicted that optimism and hope would differ from other wellknown personality traits. Results revealed that optimism was obviously discernible from positive affect ($\rho = .55$), negative affect ($\rho = -.52$), neuroticism ($\rho = -.49$), extraversion ($\rho = .33$), conscientiousness ($\rho = .31$), agreeableness ($\rho = .30$), and openness ($\rho = .28$), though, showed common characteristics with resilience ($\rho = .74$) and self-esteem ($\rho = .73$) and it was not redundant with pessimism ($\rho = -.56$). Yet, hope was discernible from general self-efficacy ($\rho = .56$), positive affect ($\rho = .46$), negative affect ($\rho = -.38$), and self-esteem ($\rho = .42$).

Researchers concluded that optimism and hope are distinguishable from each other and differ from various personality traits. They stated that optimism was distinguishable from positive affect, negative affect, pessimism; while it showed an overlap with resilience and self-esteem. What is more, hope was distinguishable from positive affect, negative affect, self-esteem and self-efficacy. In addition, they claimed that to predict well-being, the role of optimism and hope needs to be investigated in contrast to popular models of personality i.e. Five Factor Model characteristics.

Magaletta and Oliver (1999) in their study investigated the relationship between (a) hope, two aspects of hope (agency thinking and pathways thinking), self-efficacy and optimism (b); and also they analyzed the associations of hope, self-efficacy and optimism to predict general measure of well-being among undergraduate university sample (n = 204). They found that agency thinking and pathways thinking were highly correlated with hope; in addition agency, pathways, hope, self-efficacy, optimism and general measure of well-being were all positively, considerably and moderately intercorrelated. Pathways component of hope was less correlated with self-efficacy, optimism and general measure of well-being averaging about .40; while general measure of well-being was more highly correlated with self-efficacy, hope and optimism averaging about .60. Multiple regression analyses predicting well-being revealed that total hope predicts unique variance independent of optimism and self-efficacy; while pathways component of hope predicts unique variance independent of optimism. Researchers concluded that hope, optimism and self-

efficacy were all related but distinct constructs which significantly contribute to general measure of well-being.

In a sample of 591 undergraduate university students, Gallagher and Lopez (2009) contrasted hope and optimism so as to get an insight whether two are distinct latent constructs, separately predict multiple constituents of positive mental health and also differentially relate to the features of well-being by using structural equation modeling. Confirmatory factor analysis model with hope and optimism as oblique latent constructs showed excellent fit and signified that two latent constructs of hope and optimism were correlated r = .66. Researchers also carried out an alternative analysis to test whether a single latent construct of positive expectancies would present a more parsimonious representation of data set. Goals, agency, and pathways were constituted as three indicators of hope; and optimism and pessimism were considered as two indicators of optimism. However this model showed a poor fit; indicating that reducing hope and optimism to a single latent construct was not reasonable.

In addition, researchers found that optimism had a unique effect on 12 of the 14 components of well-being which are classified under social well-being (social coherence, social integration, social contribution, social acceptance, social actualization), hedonic well-being (positive affect, negative affect life satisfaction) and eudaimonic well-being (environmental mastery, positive relations, purpose in life, self acceptance) while it does not have an impact on autonomy and personal growth which are classified under the subject of eudaimonic well-being (except negative affect and social coherence). When the optimism and hope combined, results indicated moderate to high proportion of variance on 14 components of well-being (R^2 ranging from .29 for autonomy to .80 for purpose in life). These analyses showed that optimism and hope are both significant in predicting various components of well-being.

Moreover, researchers investigated whether hope and optimism differentially predicted the different features of well-being. Results showed that when the hedonic well-being is considered, optimism was more strongly related with the all parts of it (average completely standardized effect B = 0.464). Besides, hope had a considerable effect on two of the three components of hedonic well-being that are positive affect and life satisfaction (B = 0.265). In addition to that, optimism was more strongly related with all parts of social well-being (B = 0.359), while hope was associated four of the five components of social well-being (B = 0.324). Researchers claimed that generalized positive expectancies (i.e. optimism) and the ones that consider personal agency (i.e. hope) are both crucial in maintaining social well-being. Furthermore, researchers found that hope was more strongly related with eudaimonic well-being (B = 0.487), but optimism had a statistically significant effect on four of the six components of hedonic well-being (B = 0.342). Researchers concluded that both hope and optimism may differentially relate to the elements of well-being.

Rand (2009) in his study analyzed the influence of hope and optimism on grade expectancy and academic performance among university student (n = 345). He found that hope and optimism were positively correlated (r = .51). Results revealed that hope -rather than optimism- influenced participants' goal specific expectancies (final class grade). Both hope and optimism did not show a direct affect on academic performance while the shared characteristic of hope and optimism (i.e., goal attitude) influenced the academic performance beyond previous academic achievement. Rand also found no difference in analyses when the gender or year in school was considered, though racial background made a difference.

In a different study, Rand et al. (2011) examined the relationship of initial levels of hope and optimism with later academic performance and life satisfaction among first year law students (n = 86). They found that hope and optimism were positively correlated (r = .50) though none of them were correlated with undergraduate and Law school GPA. In addition, path analysis results revealed that hope -in contrast to optimism- predicted better academic success even as Law School Admission Test scores and undergraduate scores were controlled. They found no association between optimism and academic performance. In addition researchers found that both hope and optimism distinctively predicted greater life satisfaction at the end of the first semester.

Bryant and Cvengros (2004) in their study compared the optimism and hope so as to give an insight about theoretical similarities and differences among undergraduate university sample (n = 354). Confirmatory factor analyses showed that though optimism and hope were related to each other but; they are distinct constructs. Correlation analyses showed that optimism correlated almost equally with agency (r = .54) and pathways (r = .52) subscales of hope while it is inversely related with pessimism (r = -.63). On the other hand pessimism negatively and strongly correlated with agency (r = .60) than did pathways (r = -.45). Researchers claimed that these results also give significant information about the discriminant validity of the hope and optimism while the two also have similarities in pessimism and agency components. In addition, results demonstrated that optimism was associated with positive reappraisal while hope was related with self-efficacy. Researchers also proposed that hope centers its attention more straightly on the personal attainment of particular goals, whereas optimism generally relates to the expected quality of future outcomes.

Robinson and Snipes (2009) examined the associations of hope, optimism and pessimism, self-efficacy and the academic well-being of African-American college students (n = 205). Researchers grouped hope, self-efficacy, optimism and pessimism as a cognitive set of competence and control beliefs for following analyses. Multiple regression analysis showed that cognitive set (hope, self-efficacy, optimism and pessimism) was significantly predicted the academic achievement of students, though hope was the strongest predictor. Furthermore, hope was found to be inversely related with negative affect; though pessimism and negative effect was positively correlated. Additionally, it was seen that both hope and optimism contributed to the life satisfaction of participants' in a positive way. Regression analyses also revealed that cognitive set predicted all the coping subscales of Brief COPE, except venting. Also, it was seen that optimism and self-efficacy were significantly predicted adaptive coping strategies. Optimism predicted emotional support, instrumental support, and self-distraction; while self-efficacy predicted planning, active coping, acceptance and religion. Both optimism and self-efficacy predicted positive reframing. In addition, regression analysis revealed the pessimism was the strongest predictor of denial, behavioral disengagement, substance use,

20

humor, and self-blame. According to researchers, these conclusions showed that students who have favorable academic performance potential and who anticipate positive future outcomes have higher use of constructive coping strategies in dealing with stress; on the contrary, those who have pessimistic outlook turn to use of negative coping strategies.

Taking everything into account, studies that were carried out with university samples showed that optimism and hope are related but distinct constructs. They not only contribute to the physical well-being, psychological well-being and social wellbeing of students but also crucial in goal attainment and add positively to academic life.

2.4. Definition of Coping Strategies

According to Lazarus and Folkman (1984) coping is "constantly changing cognitive and behavioral efforts to manage specific external and internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person" (p. 141). Coping strategies can eradicate the undesirable situation or stressor; alter the appraisal of the person about the stress evoking occasion; and reduce or manage the influence of stress. Lazarus and Folkman divided coping into two components: problem-focused coping and emotion-focused coping.

In problem-focused coping, person focuses his/her attention to what can be done to alter the situation with the aim of reducing or eliminating stress evoking situation. In other words, person engage in problem-focused efforts so as to define the problem, generate various solutions, and choose the one by weighting it in terms of cost and benefits to take action. Seeking information, taking direct action are examples of this type of coping. In emotion-focused coping, person does not try to change the situation rather try to lessen emotional distress by using strategies like avoidance, minimization, distancing, selective attention, positive comparison etc. The selected cognitive strategies depend on the person's appraisal of the situation whether it is changeable or not. In other words, people use problem-focused strategies in uncontrollable situations, while they adopt emotion-focused strategies in uncontrollable situations. According to Lazarus and Folkman (1984) people use both problem-

focused and emotion-focused strategies so as to deal with internal and external demands of actual stressful life situations and both of them contribute to people's lives. (Folkman & Lazarus, 1985; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Lazarus & Lazarus, 2006).

Roth and Cohen (1986) in their article divided coping strategies into two: approach coping and avoidance coping. They claimed that these strategies have both benefits and costs for individuals and may be prioritized across time. In addition, both strategies may be present at one time, such as; while some aspects of a situation are approached others may be avoided. They stated that people cannot be categorized either approach or avoidant coppers since almost everyone uses some tactics from each of them. In addition, personal differences and situational variables may affect the preferred coping strategies.

According to the researchers, in approach coping, person takes active role and takes advantage of changes in situation. This orientation is especially beneficial if the potential threat or problem may be affected. In other words, approach oriented coping particularly helpful if the situation is controllable. It has some gains for the person like ventilation of affect or assimilation and resolution of threat. However, approach oriented coping may have some drawbacks if the situation is not controllable. When the likelihood of changing the situation is low or not present, those who were approach oriented may undergo in increased stress to change the situation and worry excessively which is not only time consuming but also not productive.

Besides, avoidance coping strategies may lessen stress, thwart anxiety and may be helpful when the emotional resources are limited and situation is not controllable. In addition minimum use of avoidance may lead to hope and courage principally in the long run. However, avoidance coping strategies may impede the proper action to be taken when there is chance to change the threatening situation. Moreover, it may lead to emotional numbness; engross one's thoughts with threatening matter, prompt to disrupting avoidance behaviors when the person consciously or unconsciously keep unpleasant cognitions and emotions out of awareness. Lazarus (1983, as cited in Roth & Cohen, 1986) stated that controllability of the situation determines the effectiveness of coping. For instance, diseases like asthma, diabetes or cancer entails caution for analysis and treatment, though avoidant person may delay the necessary steps to be taken; whereas with illnesses like paralysis, avoidance oriented coping may minimize the anxiety or depression.

Aspinwall and Taylor (1997) also formulated another coping strategy called proactive coping. Proactive coping differs from the traditional coping approaches in a way that it consists of attempts undertaken before the stressful situation occurs. This type of coping efforts is advantageous, because it minimizes the degree of pressure as person may already get readied to stress evoking situation. Also, as the person will not be exhausted with stressful condition, coping resources are expected to be greater. Moreover, it is beneficial because there will be variety of options in managing stress beforehand, though, opportunities may be restrained after the stressor occurred. Finally, person's stress level will be lower. Proactive coping starts with the building of resources and skills in advance of any stress and entails recognition of probable stressors. Afterwards person makes initial appraisal of potential stressor by asking questions like "What is this?", "Should I be worried about this?" etc. Initial appraisals lead to initial coping efforts that is carried out so as to lessen, prevent or deduce the stressor. Active coping tactics like planning, seeking social support etc. may be given as examples of this type of coping. Lastly, person makes use of feedback in order to evaluate the coping efforts and seek if additional coping attempts are needed.

Scheier et al. (2001, p. 204) in their article grouped the coping strategies used by optimistic and pessimistic people. Optimists use positive coping strategies like information seeking, active coping and planning, positive reframing, seeking benefit, use of humor and acceptance; while pessimists have coping tendencies like suppression of thoughts, giving up, self-distraction, cognitive avoidance, focus on distress and overt denial.

In sum, it may be concluded that optimists differ from their counterparts in choosing and using coping strategies when faced with stressful situations. Though there are various approaches to coping tendencies, it is obvious that positive coping tactics outweighs the negative ones with their apparent benefits.

2.5. Research on Optimism and Coping Strategies

According to Carver et al. (2010) optimistic people and pessimistic ones differs in their coping strategies as the two differs in broad behavioral tendencies when faced with situations. That is to say, people who are certain about future successes, persist on their goal pursuit even in the face of adversity. Since they are confident in their efforts will result in success, they are easily goal-engaged and adopt pro-active habits. If the situation is not solvable or uncontrollable, then it leads people to accept the reality, see the positive aspects of life and retrieve by helpful coping strategies like getting social support or use of humor. Since optimistic people have positive mix of feelings like eagerness and enthusiasm when faced with adversity they will have less distress and higher quality of life over time. On the contrary, people who are doubtful will call upon to strategies not to face the difficulties, escape it by wishful thinking, distract themselves temporarily, and even stop struggling. Thus, it may be concluded that optimism is obviously expected to be related with more approach oriented (problem-focused) and proactive coping strategies plus less avoidance coping strategies because positive expectations about future may lead to increased commitment and attempt to surmount challenges (Nes & Segerstrom, 2006).

In the literature, there are variety of researches which examines the relationship between optimism and coping among university students. Below some of them are exemplified.

In a sample of 476 undergraduate university students, Carver et al. (1989) examined the correlations between coping strategies and optimism. They found that, optimism was positively related with active coping, planning, restraint coping, positive reinterpretation, acceptance, turning to religion and seeking instrumental support; while it was inversely related with ventilation of emotions, denial, behavioral disengagement, mental disengagement, and substance use. Aspinwall and Taylor (1992) in their study examined the impact of individual differences and coping on college adjustment and performance among freshmen (n = 672). They found that optimism predicted more social support and less use of avoidance coping strategies. Results showed that optimistic students use active coping strategies to deal with stress which in turn prompt to better adjustment. In addition, it is seen that optimism predicted better physical health and less symptoms as well.

In a similar study, Brissette et al. (2002) investigated the 1st-year college students optimism level in relation to social support, coping strategies and adjustment to college (n = 89). They found that students who were high in optimism had reported less stress and depression while they have greater increase in perceived on campus social support. In addition, correlation analysis revealed that, optimism was positively related with active coping, planning, positive reinterpretation and growth; while it was inversely associated with denial and behavioral disengagement. Furthermore, meditational analysis proved that social support, positive reinterpretation and growth all contributed to the adjustment of optimistic students.

Scheier et al. (1986) examined the relationship between optimism and coping among undergraduate university students (n = 291). Results revealed that students resort to problem-focused coping strategies when the situation is controllable and they turn to emotion-focused tactics when the situation is uncontrollable. Moreover, correlational analysis showed that optimism was positively related with problem focused coping, positive reinterpretation and acceptance; while it was inversely related with denial. In addition, it was found that in unmanageable conditions, optimists call upon to acceptance/resignation type of coping strategy. On the contrary, pessimism was related with denial, distancing and disengagement from the chosen goal.

Nes and Segerstrom (2006) in their meta-analytic review examined the associations between optimism and coping. Optimism was found to be positively associated with approach coping tactics which aims to remove, lessen, or handle the stressful situations and emotions; while it was negatively related avoidance coping strategies like ignoring or withdrawing from stressor or emotions. In addition, results revealed
that optimistic people might regulate their coping strategies in accordance with the necessities of the stressor.

In a sample of 309 undergraduates, Krypel and Henderson-King (2010) examined the associations of stress, optimism and coping. It was seen that optimism was significantly and inversely related with perceived stress and disengagement coping; while it was positively and significantly related with problem focused coping. Results of regression analyses showed that optimism negatively predicted the stress and escaping while positively predicted sociality when the meaning of education is considered. It was concluded that optimistic students were less apt to see education as a cause of stress or an escape, though; pessimists who use disengagement coping styles were more prone to see education as a getaway and stress evoking. In addition regression results demonstrated that students who use emotion-focused coping were seeing university as an opportunity for social life, learning and personal development.

Hatchett and Park (2004) investigated the associations between optimism, coping strategies, psychopathology and counseling outcomes among college students (n = 96). Correlation analyses revealed that optimism had positive associations with social support and task-oriented coping strategies that prompt direct management and handling of stressful condition. However, it had an inverse relationship with psychopathology, emotion-oriented coping, and the avoidance-distraction subscales of The Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations (CISS). In addition, when the psychopathology partialled out, the correlation between optimism and task-oriented coping stayed significant.

Harju and Bolen (1998) explored the effects of optimism on coping and perceived quality of life in a university sample (n = 204). It was seen that highly optimistic students had better quality of life, employ action and reframing coping strategies. Midlevel optimists reported a satisfied life though they were high in alcohol usage. Participants who were low in optimism were least satisfied in life, used more disengagement coping tactics and were also high in alcohol use. Moreover, analysis

revealed that women cope by using emotions, venting, and religion and report more higher quality of life; while men use acceptance and humor as coping strategies.

Segerstrom et al. (1998) examined the impact of optimism on mood, coping strategies and immune change among first year law students. They found that, optimists were using more active coping strategies and less avoidance in contrast to pessimists. In addition, optimism predicted better mood and immunity; while the distinction between optimists and pessimists in the degree of mood disturbance were found to be partially related to the avoidant coping strategies used.

Fontaine, Manstead, and Wagner (1993) explored the relationship between optimism, perceived control over stress and coping styles of undergraduate university students (n = 420). Results revealed that optimism showed positive correlations with active coping, growth and positive reinterpretation subscales of COPE. It indicated negative correlation with denial, behavioral disengagement and venting while moderately related with perceived control over stress. In addition, it was seen that when the perceived control over stress is partialled out from the analysis, optimism still showed positive relations with active coping and positive reinterpretation plus inversely related with venting.

To sum up, above studies exemplified that optimism and coping strategies contribute university students' subjective well-being, physical well-being and quality of life. In addition, optimistic students adjust to life transitions more easily, deal with stress actively, have larger social support, and see education as an opportunity for growth. Moreover, it is clear that when the situation is controllable, optimistic students are apt to use active coping strategies like planning; however, in uncontrollable situations they turn to emotion focused coping strategies like acceptance. That is to say, they regulate their coping tendencies in accordance with the necessities of stressor.

2.6. Turkish Studies in Optimism, Hope and Coping Strategies

When the literature is analyzed, it is seen that optimism, hope and coping was not widely studied together among Turkish university students though there are a few examples of it (e.g. Dursun, 2012). However, there are some studies carried out on optimism (e.g. Sarı-Cenk, 2008; Uğurlu, 2011), hope (e.g. Denizli, 2004; Karaırmak, 2007; Kemer, 2006; Uzun-Özer & Tezer, 2008; Yalçındağ, 2009) and coping (e.g. Alınmış, 2011; Ayaz, 2011; Bilgen, 2010; Demokan, 2010; Elçi, 2004; Nadir, 2010; Önder, 2012; Sarıot, 2011; Tuncay-Senlet, 2012; Yola, 2011) with university students and different samples. In addition, there are test development and adaptation studies on optimism (Aydın & Tezer, 1991; Balcı & Yılmaz, 2002), hope (Akman & Korkut, 1993; Atik & Kemer, 2009) and coping (e.g. Tuna, 2003; Şahin & Durak, 1995). Below, some of the most relevant study examples of research constructs are exemplified.

In a sample of 984 university students, Dursun (2012) investigated the roles of meaning in life (presence and search) optimism, hope and added contribution of coping strategies (cognitive-affective coping and instrumental-emotional support) in predicting the life satisfaction and positive affectivity dimensions of subjective wellbeing. Multiple regression analyses revealed that optimism, pathways and agency subscales of hope positively and significantly predicted the positive affect while the addition of instrumental-emotional support coping accounted increase of .05% of total variance. In addition, second regression analysis showed that presence and search dimensions of meaning in life, optimism, and agency predicted the life satisfaction in a significant way; while adding the instrumental-emotional support to the model resulted in significant increase in .01% explained variance. Thus, it may be concluded that optimism, agency and pathways are significant in predicting positive affect while instrumental-emotional support coping strategies also increase it when added. In addition, in predicting the life satisfaction of students, meaning in life, optimism and agency play crucial role though instrumental-emotional support coping also add up to life satisfaction of students in a significant way.

In a sample of 852 university students, Parmaksız and Avşaroğlu (2012) examined the teacher candidates' optimism levels and used coping strategies with stress according to their self-esteem level. Results revealed that self-esteem accounted for 42.9% of total variance in optimism. There was an inverse relationship between depressive affect and optimism; though there were significant positive correlations between optimism and sub-dimensions of self-esteem according to self-esteem scale (Arıcak, 1999; as cited in Parmaksız & Avşaroğlu, 2012) which are self-worth, self-confidence, self-sufficiency, success and prolificacy. Results revealed that using self confident approach, optimistic approach, seeking social support approach which are the subscales of coping; and also self-worth, self-confidence, self-sufficiency, success and prolificacy sub-dimensions of self-esteem were all positively related. In addition, there found a negative relationship between coping subscales (self-confident approach, optimist approach, and seeking social support approach) and depressive affect subdimension of self-esteem.

Güler and Çınar (2010) examined the perceived stressors and utilized coping strategies of the students at nursing department (n = 240). Results revealed that 65.8% of students were having stress in their education life while 50.4% of students were having stress in their social life. It was found that to overcome the stressful situation students use self-confidence approach and optimistic approach. In addition, it was found that, those who were high in optimism were less experienced the stress related to education.

In a sample of 264 university students, Terzi (2008) investigated the relationship between resiliency and internal protective factors (optimism, self-efficacy, problemfocused coping) across genders. Results revealed no difference on resilience scores among gender. However, optimism, self-efficacy and problem-focused coping all significantly predicted resilience among university students.

In a recent study, Gündoğdu (2010) explored to what extend loneliness, body image, academic success, and demographic variables of age, gender, grade and faculty predicted life orientation of university students (n = 427). It was seen that females scored higher in life orientation test than males; also; increase in grade level lowered the optimism level of students. Age, faculty and grade did not predict the optimism level of participants. Results also showed that body image significantly predicted the life orientation scores of participants.

Otrar, Ekşi, Dilmaç, and Şirin (2002) examined the impact of stress and coping strategies on psychological well-being of Turkic and Relative Societies students

studying in Turkey (n = 232). According to the results of Independent sample t-test, it was found that gender did not make a difference in helplessness and social support subscales of Ways of Coping Inventory (Şahin & Durak, 1995); though men and women differed in the use of self-confidence, submissive and optimistic coping styles. It was seen that higher level of stress was related with the higher level of psychological symptoms. Results also revealed that women indicated more psychological symptoms like pathology, somatization, obsessive-compulsiveness, depression and anxiety; while men were high in submissive coping style. Finally, it was found that psychopathology was inversely related with optimism and self-confidence subscales of Ways of Coping Inventory.

Ekşi (2010) examined the relationship between personality characteristics and coping strategies employed by university students (n = 237). He used the Ways of Coping with Stress Scale (WCSS) and the NEO Five Factor Inventory (NEO-FFI) to gather the data. Descriptive statistics revealed that students mostly used self-confident coping style; though they least used submissive coping approach. In addition Independent sample t-test showed that women were high in openness to experience and conscientiousness as a personality characteristic. Furthermore, it was seen that men used more optimistic style as a coping strategy, while women used social support more. Moreover, it was found that students who were high in conscientiousness were apt to employ self-confident, optimistic, and turning to religion styles of coping while those who were high in extraversion had a tendency to make use of social support and self-confident types of coping styles according to Ways of Coping with Stress Scale.

In a sample of 254 university students, Uğurlu (2011) examined the associations between general health, mental health, optimism and pessimism. Correlational analyses revealed that perception of general health and optimism was positively correlated (r = .31). Similarly, optimism and mental health was also showed positive correlation (r = .42). In contrast, pessimism was negatively correlated with general health (r = .-29) and mental health (r = .-45) which indicated that the increase in pessimism decreased the perception in general and mental health. In addition, optimism and pessimism was negatively correlated (r = .-39).

Uzun-Özer and Tezer (2008) explored the associations between hope, positive and negative affect among university students (n = 163). MANOVA analysis showed significant overall main effect of hope though gender main effect and interaction of hope and gender was not found to be significant. Univariate analysis revealed those people who were high in hope were also high in positive affect than low hope people.

Another study concerning hope was carried out by Denizli (2004). Denizli studied the role of hope and study skills in predicting test anxiety levels of university students (n = 442). He found that students who were high in dispositional hope displayed less emotionality symptoms during test situation and feel better.

Eryılmaz and Atak (2011) examined the relationship between subjective well-being, self-esteem and optimism among high school students (n = 227). Correlation analyses reveled that subjective well-being had a moderate association with self-efficacy; however it had high correlation with optimism. In addition, self-efficacy and optimism positively and strongly correlated. Also, regression analysis showed that adolescent subjective well-being highly predicted by optimism.

In a sample of 463 licensed athletes, Şar and Işıklar (2012) investigated the relations of locus of control, subjective well-being and optimism in predicting the self-confidence of athletes. Linear regression analyses revealed that locus of control, subjective well-being and optimism accounted for 88% of total variance in sport confidence and was all positively correlated. In addition, optimism had significant positive correlation with sport confidence and subjective well-being; conversely it was inversely related with locus of control.

CHAPTER III

METHOD

In this chapter methodological details of the study are introduced. The first section describes the characteristics of the participants. The second section includes data collection instruments. The third section explains procedure followed in the study. In the fourth section, data analyses are presented. Lastly, the fifth section presents the limitations of the study.

3.1. Participants

Convenient sampling procedure was used in the present study. Participants were 658 (469 females, 189 males) volunteered undergraduate students from four faculties and School of Nursing at one of the private universities in Istanbul. Excluding 18 subjects as multivariate outliers in the preliminary analysis, the data analyses carried out with a sample of 640 students (457 females, 183 males). The distribution of participants by faculties were 240 (202 females, 38 males) in Arts and Sciences, 122 (59 females, 63 males) in Engineering, 135 (61 females, 74 males) in Economic and Administrative Sciences, 44 (43 females, 1 males) in Education, 99 (92 females, 7 males) in School of Nursing. Age of the students ranged from 17 to 39 with the mean age of 19.7 (SD = 2.3).

3.2. Data Collection Instruments

Participants were administered four instruments together with demographic information form (Appendix A), namely, Life Orientation Test (LOT) (Appendix B), Dispositional Hope Scale (DHS) (Appendix C), and Brief COPE scale (Appendix D).

3.2.1. Demographic Information Form

A demographic information form was developed by the researcher for the present study to gather information about age, gender, faculty, department and grade level.

3.2.2. Life Orientation Test

Life Orientation Test (LOT; Scheier & Carver, 1985) is a self-report measure assessing generalized expectancies for positive versus negative outcomes. LOT consists of 12 items with 5-point likert type response format ranging from 0 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree). Scale consists of 4 negatively worded (e.g. "If something can go wrong for me, it will"), 4 positively worded (e.g. "In uncertain times, I usually expect the best") and 4 filler items. After reversing the scoring for the negative items, 8 item scores were totaled to yield an overall optimism score with high score representing greater optimism. Total scores changed between 0 and 32. Internal consistency coefficient calculated by using Cronbach alpha formula was reported as .76 while test-retest reliability was found as .79 (Scheier & Carver, 1985).

The Turkish adaptation study of LOT was carried out by Aydın and Tezer (1991). Internal consistency of LOT was reported as .72 (n = 150) and four weeks test-retest reliability was found as .77 (n = 97).

3.2.2.1. Construct Validity of LOT for the Present Study

The exploratory factor analysis was conducted by PASW 18.0 with a sample size of 640 students. Items were analyzed through Principal Component Analysis with Varimax rotation with Kaiser normalization. The Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin measure verified the sampling adequacy for the analysis, KMO = .76 (Field, 2009). Bartlett's test of sphericity ($\chi^2 = 956.626$, df = 28, p < .0001) indicated that correlations between items were sufficiently large for PCA. As the sample size exceeds 600, factor loadings above .21 were accepted as significant (Stevens, 2002).

Employing an eigenvalue of 1.00 as the criterion, the analysis of data resulted in 2 factors explaining the 51.92% of the variance. Eigenvalues of the sample were 2.732 and 1.422, respectively. The first factor accounted for 34.15% of the total variance

while the second factor accounted for 17.77%, respectively. The results are presented in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1

Factor Loadings of LOT Items

Item No	Factor 1	Factor 2
9	.78	
8	.74	
12	.67	
3	.64	
11		.79
4		.78
5		.74
1		.46

As seen in Table 3.1, factor loadings were changed between .78 and .64; and .79 and .46 for the first and second factors, respectively. Contrary to the expectation, the results of factor analysis obtained in the present study indicated bi-dimensional nature of LOT. However, when the items in each of the factor are examined, it was seen that negatively worded items loaded in the first factor whereas positively worded items loaded in the second factor. Considering one-dimensional factor structure of the original as well as Turkish version of LOT, this result was attributed to the difference in responses between positively and negatively worded items. Thus, a total score of LOT was calculated for each participant.

3.2.2.2. Reliability of LOT for the Present Study

In the present study, corrected item total correlations for LOT ranged from .27 (item 1) to .55 (item 9). Internal consistency coefficient calculated by Cronbach alpha for the LOT was found as .71 (n = 640).

3.2.3. The Dispositional Hope Scale

The Dispositional Hope Scale (DHS) was developed by Snyder et al. (1991) to assess a sense of successful goal directed determination (i.e. agency) and ability to generate plans to achieve goals (i.e. pathways). DHS consists of 12 items with 4-point likert type response format ranging from 1 (I definitely disagree) to 4 (I definitely agree). Scale consists of two factor structure with 4 pathways items (e.g. "Even when others get discouraged, I know I can find a way to solve my problem"), 4 agency items (e.g. "I energetically pursue my goal") and 4 filler items (e.g. "I feel tired most of the time"). Possible highest score that can be obtained from each subscale is 16 whereas minimum one is 4. Researchers may add two subscales to get a total hope score. Cronbach alpha coefficients for the total scale ranged from .71 to .76 whereas for the agency scale it ranged from .71 to .76 and for the pathways subscale it ranged from .63 to .80 (Snyder et. al.,1991).

Akman and Korkut (1993) carried out the Turkish adaptation studies for DHS. They reported the internal consistency coefficient as .65 for the overall scale and fourweek test-retest correlation coefficient as .66. The researchers conducted three separate factor analyses and found that DHS had a single factor structure that explained the 26.23, 17.43 and 16.47 percent of the total variance with Turkish university student samples. In another study, Denizli (2004) also found a single factor structure with an eigenvalue of 2.474 for DHS that explained the 31% of the total variance. Contrary to these results, Kemer (2006) carried out a factor analytic study with a sample size of 786 and reported two factors with eigenvalues of 3.451 and 1.488 that explains the 50% of the total variance.

3.2.3.1. Construct Validity of DHS for the Present Study

The exploratory factor analysis was conducted by PASW 18.0 with a sample size of 640 students. DHS were analyzed through Principal Component Analysis with Varimax rotation with Kaiser normalization. The Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin measure verified the sampling adequacy for the analysis, KMO = .83 (Field, 2009). Bartlett's test of sphericity ($\chi^2 = 978.964$, df = 28, p < .0001) indicated that correlations between items were sufficiently large for PCA. As the sample size exceeds 600,

factor loadings above .21 were accepted as significant (Stevens, 2002). Employing an eigenvalue of 1.00 as the criterion, the analysis of data resulted in 2 factors explaining the 52.18% of the variance. Eigenvalues were 3.042 and 1.132, respectively. The first factor accounted for 38.03% of the total variance while the second factor accounted for 14.15%, respectively. Results of factor analysis are presented in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2

	Factor 1	Factor 2
Item	Pathways	Agentic
No	Thinking	Thinking
7	.73	
1	.73	
4	.72	
8	.63	
2	.51	.38
10		.82
12		.73
9		.55

Factor Loadings of DHS Items

As seen in Table 3.2, factor loadings were changed between .73 and .51; and .82 and .38 for the first and second factors, respectively. Although item 2 was loaded with a higher factor loading in the pathways thinking subscale, considering the original factor structure, in the present study, it was totaled as an item in the agency thinking subscale with loadings over .30. Keeping in mind that further analyses are needed to re-examine the factor structure of the scale, it was concluded that the findings obtained in the present study were consistent with the factor structure of the original scale (Snyder et al., 1991).

3.2.3.2. Reliability of DHS for the Present Study

In the present study, corrected item total correlations for DHS ranged from .34 (item 10) to .54 (item 7). Internal consistency coefficients calculated by Cronbach alpha for overall hope scale, agency and pathways subscales were found as .76, .61 and .71, respectively (n = 640).

3.2.4. Brief COPE scale

The Brief COPE is developed by Carver et al. (1989) and measures different ways of coping that people use when faced with stress. Original COPE scale consists of 60 items with 15 dimensions. Carver (1997) revised the scale by omitting 2 items for per subscale and decreased 15 subscales to 14 with some modifications. This new brief form was named as the Brief COPE to measure coping process with stress. The Brief COPE consists of 28 items and 14 subscales with 4 alternatives response sets. Subscales and items are as follows; active coping; planning; seeking social support for instrumental reasons; seeking social support for emotional reasons; venting; behavioral disengagement; self-distraction; positive reframing; denial; acceptance; religion; substance use; humor; and self-blame. This scale can be used to measure both coping dispositions and situation-specific coping tendencies based on the researcher's needs and desires. In the present study, we focused on general tendencies, i.e., what the person usually does when under stress, instead of what the person did in a specific time of period and coping episode.

Carver (1997) reported that subscales exceeded Cronbach alpha of .60 for all the subscales except for venting (.50), denial (.54), and acceptance (.57). In addition exploratory factor analysis showed nine factors that explained the 72.4% of the total variance.

The adaptation studies of the Brief COPE for Turkish sample were done by Tuna (2003). Tuna omitted items 10 and 23 due to the low item total correlations and analyzed factorial structure with the remaining 26 items. The first analysis revealed eight factor solutions that explained 60.74% of the variance whereas following second order factor analysis yielded three second order factors explaining 47.53% of

the total variance. Cronbach alpha coefficients for subscales were found between .26 and .91.

In a recent study that was carried out by Tuna and Tezer (2011), researchers reported that exploratory factor analysis showed eight factors that explained the 58.21% of the total variance for Brief COPE. In addition, subscales of Brief COPE yielded Cronbach alpha values ranging from .29 (self-blame) to .91 (substance use). Moreover, test-retest reliabilities of subscales were found as changing between .42 (venting) and .76 (religion).

3.2.4.1. Construct Validity of Brief COPE for the Present Study

The exploratory factor analysis was conducted by PASW 18.0 with 28 target items of the Turkish version of Brief COPE scale (n = 640). Items were analyzed through Principal Component Analysis with oblique rotation as similar to the original procedures (Carver, 1997). The Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin measure verified the sampling adequacy for the analysis, KMO = .75 (Field, 2009). Bartlett's test of sphericity ($\chi^2 =$ 4552.046, df = 378, p < .0001) indicated that correlations between items were sufficiently large for PCA. As the sample size exceeds 600, factor loadings above .21 were accepted as significant (Stevens, 2002).

Employing an eigenvalue of 1.00 as the criterion, the analysis of data resulted in 8 factors explaining the 58.01% of the variance. Eigenvalues of the sample were 4.244, 2.931, 2.014, 1.784, 1.595, 1.454, 1.211 and 1.011 respectively. The first factor accounted for 15.16% of the total variance while the other factors accounted for 10.47%, 7.19%, 6.37%, 5.70%, 5.19%, 4.32% and 3.61% of variance respectively. Results are presented in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3

Item	Factors									
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8		
13	.59									
12	.57									
14	.57							.27		

Factor Loadings of Brief COPE Items

Item				Fac	tors			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
19	.54			24				38
1	.53	26	.31			23		
17	.41	22				.34		
9	.40			23	26			
26		.70						
6		.68						
16		.60						
4			.88					
11			.87					
10				84				
23				83				
5				80				
15				69				
8					71			
3					68			
20					.59			
24	.34	.26			.39			
18						.83		
28						.81		
22							.90	
27							.83	
21								.64
25	.29	.26						.48
7	.24	37						.46
2		32					.31	.43

Table 3.3 (continued)

As seen in Table 3.3, factor loadings of items were so questionable (e.g., item 24, item 17) that might be open to misinterpretations in further analyses. Thus, based on the Carver's (1997) premise that researchers can selectively use the scales that are of their interest in their studies and his suggestions regarding the flexibility of the use of the items and subscales, in the present study, the scores of original 14 subscales were used to test the predictive value of any of the subscales in optimism.

3.2.4.2. Reliability of Brief COPE for the Present Study

In the present study, corrected item total correlations for Brief COPE ranged from .07 (item 16) to .48 (item 23). Internal consistency coefficient calculated by Cronbach alpha for the 14 subscale scores are presented in Table 3.4.

Table 3.4

Subscale	Cronbach alpha
Active Coping (Items 2,7)	.53
Planning (Items 14,25)	.44
Social Support for Instrumental Reasons (Items 10,23)	.78
Social Support for Emotional Reasons (Items 5,15)	.59
Venting (Items 9,21)	.07
Behavioral Disengagement (Items 6,16)	.63
Humor (Items 18, 28)	.67
Self Distraction (Items 1,19)	.33
Positive Reframing (Items 12,17)	.60
Denial (Items 3,8)	.63
Acceptance (Items 20,24)	.41
Religion (Items 22,27)	.79
Substance Use (Items 4,11)	.86
Self Blame (Items 13,26)	.26

Cronbach Alpha Coefficients for the Subscales of Brief COPE Items

As seen in Table 3.4, the lower Cronbach alpha coefficients below .40 are in the subscales of venting, self-blame and self-distraction. In spite of all these low internal consistency coefficients and inconsistent factor structures, in the present study, the original 14 subscales were used cautiously with paying special attention to their limitations.

3.3. Procedure

First of all, permission from the Ethics Review Committee of METU were obtained. After granting the permission, the researcher made personal visits to the selected departments and arranged appointments with instructors. After the collaboration was ensured with departments, study was carried out with 658 volunteered students in three months period starting from October to December 2012. Before collecting data, participants were informed about the purpose of the study and their consents were received. The questionnaires were distributed to the students by the researcher; who also provided students with information about how to respond to each scale of the study prior to the administration. Participants were guaranteed about their anonymity and confidentiality of the responses. The instruments were administered in classroom settings. Completing the entire pocket of instruments took about 10-15 minutes.

3.4. Analysis of Data

To analyze the data, several steps were followed. First of all, preliminary analysis was carried out to examine and clean the data. Then, descriptive statistics was carried out to summarize the sample characteristics. In the main analyses, in order to find out the relationships among variables, Pearson Correlation Coefficient was calculated. In predicting the role of hope, and coping in optimism, a hierarchical multiple regression analysis was conducted. Independent variables of the study were agency and pathways subscale scores of hope and 14 coping strategy scores obtained from the Brief COPE, whereas dependent variables were optimism scores. Before running the regression analyses, variable types, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity of residuals, independence of residuals, multicollinearity and independence of errors assumptions were checked (Field, 2009). According to Tabachnick and Fidell (2007), sample size for multiple regression should be N > 50 + 8m (m: numbers of predictor variables). For this study, analyses were conducted with 640 participants with 16 predictor variables which show adequateness of the sample size.

3.5. Limitations

This study has some limitations in terms of generalizability and interpretation of its results. First of all, data were gathered from the undergraduate students who study at a private university in Istanbul by using convenient sampling procedure. Thus, the findings cannot be generalized to all students and different types of universities in Turkey. Second, findings were based on students' responses to the scales which may lead to subjective evaluations of the participants. Third, since the design of the study was correlational, causal inferences were not possible for the study. In addition, there were some internal validity threats like participant characteristics, attitude of participants and location which may decrease the validity of the study.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

This chapter consists of five main sections. The first section gives information about the preliminary analysis of the data. In the second section the descriptive statistics of the study variables including means and standard deviations of the criterion and predictor variables are given. The third section presents correlation matrix of the study variables. In the fourth section, assumption checks of the hierarchical regression analysis are explained. Finally, the fifth section includes the results of hierarchical regression analysis.

4.1. Preliminary Analysis of the Data

Before the main analyses, the accurateness of data entry, the existence of missing data, and distributions of all variables were examined. Minimum and maximum scores that may be obtained from the variables and their possible frequencies were controlled. In the present study, there were less than 5% missing, so no item was eliminated from the data set.

With the aim of detecting possible influential cases, measures of influences were examined. According to Cohen, Cohen, West, and Aiken (2003) influence observations combine information from leverage and discrepancy values to give idea about how the regression equation may change if certain case was removed from the data. In other words, it looks how a case may affect the general characteristics of the regression equation. To analyze them, leverage statistics, Cook's distances, DFBeta values, and Mahalonobis distances were checked.

Firstly, leverage statistics was controlled by the formula 3(k+1) / n where k is the number of predictor variables. The values higher than the results of this formula may

cause a violation for further data analysis (Stevens, 2002). According to this formula a case should not be higher than the value of .08 for this sample. In the data set, there were no cases that violate this assumption. Afterwards, Cook's distance was applied. According to Cook and Weisberg (1982) values > 1 may influence the data. In this data set, there were no cases that violate this assumption. In addition to leverage statistics and Cook's distance, DFBeta results were also analyzed. According to Stevens (2002) values with | DFBeta | > 2 may be cause for concern for the data set. In the data set there were no cases that could violate this assumption. Finally, Mahalonobis distances were checked. With the aim of controlling Mahalonobis distances, critical χ^2 value with α =.001 and df = 16 (number of predictors) was checked. The critical χ^2 had a value of 39.25 (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). There were 18 cases that had a greater value than the critical χ^2 value. Hence these cases were deleted from the original sample. Finally 640 cases remained for further analyses.

4.2. Descriptive Statistics of the Variables

The means, standard deviations of LOT, agency and pathways subscales of DHS, and subscales of Brief COPE scores of females and males are presented in Table 4.1.

1 able 4.1	Tal	ble	4.	1
------------	-----	-----	----	---

Mean	s and	Standar	d L	Deviations	of	the .	Major	Varial	bles	by (Gender
------	-------	---------	-----	------------	----	-------	-------	--------	------	------	--------

	Female		Male		Total	
Variables	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
Criterion Variable						
LOT	19.84	5.06	19.42	4.65	19.72	4.95
Predictor Variables						
AG	12.30	1.93	12.38	2.04	12.32	1.96
PW	13.33	2.05	13.48	2.32	13.37	2.13
AC	6.50	1.15	6.38	1.21	6.47	1.16
PL	6.73	1.09	6.53	1.23	6.67	1.14
SSIR	5.90	1.63	5.30	1.62	5.73	1.65

Table 4.1	(continued)
-----------	-------------

	Female		Male		Total	
Predictor Variables	М	SD	М	SD	M	SD
SSER	5.77	1.55	4.99	1.55	5.55	1.59
VE	6.05	1.20	5.29	1.37	5.83	1.29
BD	3.90	1.50	3.82	1.63	3.88	1.54
SD	6.61	1.27	6.09	1.27	6.46	1.29
PR	6.10	1.36	5.87	1.27	6.03	1.34
DE	4.07	1.56	3.88	1.54	4.01	1.56
ACP	6.07	1.27	5.88	1.27	6.02	1.27
RE	6.41	1.66	5.79	1.75	6.23	1.71
SU	2.46	1.18	3.27	1.93	2.69	1.48
HM	5.09	1.76	5.33	1.70	5.16	1.74
SB	5.50	1.32	5.44	1.33	5.48	1.32

Note. LOT: Life Orientation Test, AG: Agency, PW: Pathways, AC: Active Coping, PL: Planning, SSIR: Seeking Social Support for Instrumental Reasons, SSER: Seeking Social Support for Emotional Reasons, VE: Venting, BD: Behavioral Disengagement, SD: Self Distraction, PR: Positive Reframing, DE: Denial, ACP: Acceptance, RE: Religion, SU: Substance Use, HM: Humor, SB: Self Blame

As seen in Table 4.1, the mean for dependent variable of optimism (LOT) was 19.72 with a standard deviation of 4.95. The means and standard deviations of independent variables were 12.32 and 1.96 for agency subscale of hope (AG), 13.37 and 2.13 for pathways subscales of hope (PW), 6.47 and 1.16 for active coping (AC), 6.67 and 1.14 for planning (PL), 5.73 and 1.65 for seeking social support for instrumental reasons (SSIR), 5.55 and 1.59 for seeking social support for emotional reasons (SSER), 5.83 and 1.29 for venting (VE), 3.88 and 1.54 for behavioral disengagement (BD), 6.46 and 1.29 for self-distraction (SD), 6.03 and 1.34 for positive reframing (PR), 4.01 and 1.56 for denial (DE), 6.02 and 1.27 for acceptance (ACP), 6.23 and 1.71 for religion (RE), 2.69 and 1.48 for substance use (SU), 5.16 and 1.74 for humor (HM), 5.48 and 1.32 for self-blame (SB).

To determine whether it is necessary to control the possible effects of gender on the dependent variable of interest (i.e., optimism), a t-test was conducted. The results indicated that there was no gender difference, t(638) = 0.979, p > .05.

4.3. Bivariate Correlation Matrices of the Variables

Table 4.2

Correlation Matrix of Study Variables

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17
LOT	1																
AG	.39**	1															
PW	.32**	.51**	1														
AC	.30**	.46**	.42**	1													
PL	.10*	.24**	.26**	.41**	1												
SSIR	.04	.07	.01	.16**	.21**	1											
SSER	.03	.07	.00	.07	.23**	.70**	1										
VE	.18**	.19**	.16**	.22**	.27**	.29**	.34**	1									
BD	35**	23**	24**	25**	05	.10*	.11**	04	1								
SD	.13**	.21**	.17**	.21**	.26**	.19**	.21**	.20**	09*	1							
PR	.43**	.30**	.37**	.40**	.39**	.13**	.16**	.31**	19**	.26**	1						
DE	16**	.01	.01	07	.05	.00	.09*	.12**	.23**	.14**	.02	1					
ACP	04	.11**	.06	.19**	.31**	.11**	.13**	.14**	.01	.11**	.19**	15**	1				
RE	.06	.07	.03	.17**	.21**	.26**	.20**	.13**	.08*	.11**	.15**	02	.19**	1			
SU	17**	.01	05	13**	09*	.00	.05	02	.20**	03	14**	.19**	.01	19**	1		
HM	.08*	.06	.07	02	.00	.09*	.10**	.12**	.00	.05	.18**	.01	.04	02	.16**	1	
SB	25**	12**	.02	.02	.34**	.13**	.18**	.12**	.24**	.12**	.08*	.18**	.19**	.13**	.06	.04	1

*p<.05, **p<.01 Note. LOT: Life Orientation Test, AG: Agency, PW: Pathways, AC: Active Coping, PL: Planning, SSIR: Seeking Social Support for Instrumental Reasons, SSER: Seeking Social Support for Emotional Reasons, VE: Venting, BD: Behavioral Disengagement, SD: Self Distraction, PR: Positive Reframing, DE: Denial, ACP: Acceptance, RE: Religion, SU: Substance Use, HM: Humor, SB: Self Blame

46

As seen in Table 4.2, dependent variable, optimism (LOT) was significantly and positively correlated with agency (r = .39, p < .01), pathways (r = .32, p < .01), active coping (r = .30, p < .01), planning (r = .10, p < .05), venting (r = .18, p < .01), self-distraction (r = .13, p < .01), positive reframing (r = .43, p < .01) and humor (r = .08, p < .05). In addition it was significantly and negatively correlated with behavioral disengagement (r = ..35, p < .01), denial (r = ..16, p < .01), substance use (r = ..17, p < .01) and self-blame (r = ..25, p < .01).

4.4. Assumption Checks for Hierarchical Regression Analysis

According to Field (2009), before conducting hierarchical regression core assumptions should be met. These are variable types, no perfect multicollinearity, normality, homoscedasticity and independence of errors.

To check the multicollinearity assumption, correlations among predictor variables were examined (see Table 4.2). Since there were no correlations higher than .90, no perfect multicollinearity assumption was met (Field, 2009). In addition, Tolerance statistics and Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) were also controlled. For the current sample, Tolerance values were bigger than .20 whereas VIF values were smaller than 4.0 which showed an evidence for no perfect multicollinearity (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007).

To check the normality assumption, histogram and normal probability plot of residuals were checked. To meet this assumption, the distribution of residuals should be normally distributed and P-P plots should have straight line without deviations (Field, 2009). As it can be seen from Figure 4.1 this assumption was also met.



Figure 4.1 Histogram and normal probability plot residuals for optimism

For checking the homoscedasticity assumption, the scatter plots of the regression were examined. According to Field (2009) homoscedasticity means that the residuals at each level of the independent variables should have the equal variances. Different variances may cause to heteroscedasticity. As it can be seen from Figure 4.2 this assumption was met since residuals appeared to be randomly spread around zero.



Figure 4.2 Scatter plots of predicted value and residuals

To check independence of errors assumption, Durbin Watson statistics were controlled. The value should be between 1.5 and 2.5 (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). In this study, Durbin Watson value was 1.88 showing that independence of errors assumption was also met.

4.5. Results of Hierarchical Regression Analysis

To answer the main research question, hierarchical regression analysis was used so as to figure out how well agency and pathways subscale scores of hope and 14 coping strategy scores obtained from the Brief COPE predicted the optimism level among undergraduate university students. In hierarchical regression analysis the experimenter makes a decision about which order to enter the predictor variables to the model based on previous studies (Field, 2009).

In this study, agency and pathways subscale scores of hope were entered for model 1 whereas 14 subscales of Brief COPE (active coping, planning, seeking social support for instrumental reasons, seeking social support for emotional reasons, venting, behavioral disengagement, self-distraction, positive reframing, denial, acceptance, religion, substance use, humor and self-blame) were entered for model 2. Summary of the hierarchical regression analysis were presented in Table 4.3.

Table 4.3

Model 1	В	SE	В	t	partial r
(Constant)	5.04	1.30		3.86**	
AG	.77	.11	.30	7.28**	.28
PW	.39	.10	.17	4.03**	.16
Model 2					
(Constant)	12.27	1.72		7.12**	
AG	.52	.10	.21	5.15**	.20
PW	.14	.09	.06	1.50	.06
AC	.08	.17	.02	.45	.02
PL	19	.17	04	-1.09	04
SSIR	06	.14	02	43	02
SSER	.08	.14	.03	.58	.02
VE	.29	.14	.08	2.13*	.08
BD	47	.12	14	-4.04**	16
SD	.04	.13	.01	.32	.01

Hierarchical Regression Analysis Summary for Variables Predicting Optimism

Model 2	В	SE	В	t	partial r
PR	1.19	.14	.32	8.28**	.31
DE	38	.11	12	-3.44**	14
ACP	46	.13	12	-3.43**	14
RE	.12	.10	.04	1.17	.05
SU	19	.11	06	-1.65	07
HM	.04	.09	.02	.48	.02
SB	65	.14	17	-4.82**	19

Table 4.3 (continued)

SB -.65 .14 -.17 -4.82** -.19 *p<.05, **p<.001 Note. Dependent Variable: Optimism AG: Agency, PW: Pathways, AC: Active Coping, PL: Planning, SSIR: Seeking Social Support for Instrumental Reasons, SSER: Seeking Social Support for Emotional Reasons, VE: Venting, BD: Behavioral Disengagement, SD: Self Distraction, PR: Positive Reframing, DE: Denial, ACP: Acceptance, RE: Religion, SU: Substance Use, HM: Humor, SB: Self Blame

Hierarchical multiple regression was conducted to explore how well agency and pathways scores of hope and coping strategies predicted the optimism level among undergraduate university students. In the first step of hierarchical multiple regression agency ($\beta = .30$, p < .001) and pathways ($\beta = .17$, p < .001) were entered as predictor variables. This model was statistically significant F (2, 637) = 66.35; p < .001 and explained 17% of variance in optimism. After entry of coping strategies (active coping, planning, seeking social support for instrumental reasons, seeking social support for emotional reasons, venting, behavioral disengagement, self-distraction, positive reframing, denial, acceptance, religion, substance use, humor and self-blame) at Step 2, the total variance explained by the model as a whole was 38% (F (16, 623) = 24.32; p < .001). The introduction of coping strategies explained additional 21% variance in optimism, after controlling for agency and pathways (R^2 Change = .21; F (14, 623) = 15.33; p < .001).

Additionally when the model 2 was examined, the results of standardized coefficients indicated that positive reframing positively predicted optimism with a higher beta value ($\beta = .32$, p < .001), followed by agency ($\beta = .21$, p < .001) and venting ($\beta = .08$, p < .05). Moreover it was found that self-blame ($\beta = .17$,

p < .001), behavioral disengagement ($\beta = -.14, p < .001$) acceptance ($\beta = -.12, p < .001$) and denial ($\beta = -.12, p < .001$) negatively predicted optimism.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

In this chapter, the discussion regarding the results of the current study is presented. The first section includes the discussion of the predictors of optimism. In the second section, the implications of the present study are presented. Finally, in the third section recommendations for future research is stated.

5.1. Discussion of the Results

The purpose of the present study was to find out the predictive role of agency and pathways dimensions of hope and fourteen coping strategies namely active coping, planning, seeking social support for instrumental reasons, seeking social support for emotional reasons, venting, behavioral disengagement, self-distraction, positive reframing, denial, acceptance, religion, substance use, humor and self-blame in optimism level of university students.

In order to examine the relationships between predictor variables and optimism, a hierarchical regression analysis with two models was performed. Agency and pathways dimensions of hope were included in to the analysis as model 1 predictors. The results of the first model revealed that that agency and pathways dimensions of hope accounted approximately 17% of the total variance in optimism. Also, the analysis of beta values showed that agency and pathways positively and significantly predicted optimism ($\beta = .30$, p < .001; $\beta = .17$, p < .001). Findings revealed that agency was the most significant predictor of optimism meaning that students who were high in agency were also high in optimism. Snyder et al. (2001) in their instructive article stated that optimism and agency dimension of hope overlap with their emphasis on agency-like expectancies when the goal attainment is considered,

meaning that, both share similarities in their focus on the perceived ability to move toward wished goals (Snyder, Rand, & Sigmon, 2002).

Besides, pathways dimension of hope was also significant in predicting the optimism levels of students. It is stated that, though optimism model does not overtly highlight the perceived capability to produce pathways, it is actually implicit part of the model (Snyder et al., 2002). Analyses revealed that students who were high in agency and pathways were also high in optimism. In other words, optimistic students were both confident plus energetic to initiate and keep up with the desired goals and believe there might be various ways to attain them. Moreover, when the correlation matrix is analyzed, it is seen that optimism scores of students was significantly and positively correlated with agency (r = .39, p < .01) and pathways (r = .32, p < .01) dimensions of hope. There are various studies support these finding as well (e.g. Alarkon et al., 2013; Bryant & Cvengros, 2004; Hutz-Midgett et al., 2012).

In the second model of hierarchical regression analysis fourteen coping strategies as the dimensions of Brief COPE scale added; while the total variance explained by the whole model rise to 38%. Results indicated that positive reframing, agency and venting positively and significantly predicted optimism ($\beta = .32$, p < .001; $\beta = .21$, p < .001; $\beta = .08$, p < .05). Findings revealed that positive reframing was the most significant predictor of optimism meaning that students who were high in positive reframing were also high in optimism. This association is in concord with preceding literature. Lazarus and Folkman (1984, as cited in Carver et al., 1989) stated that positive reframing which they termed as positive reappraisal is one of the strategies of emotion-focused coping that intends to dealing with distress emotions rather than the stressor itself. Nonetheless, it is not only related with lessening stress evoking emotions. It is claimed that reframing the situations in a positive way would eventually prompts person to restart/continue with active problem solving tactics.

In addition to regression results, correlation matrix also revealed a positive association between optimism and positive reframing (r = .43, p < .01) When the literature analyzed it is seen that there are various studies that corroborate to this finding (e.g. Brisette et al., 2002; Bryant & Cvengros, 2004; Carver et al., 1989; Fontaine et al., 1993; Harju & Bolen, 1998; Scheier et al., 1986; Robinson & Snipes,

2009). Following to positive reframing, again we see agency dimension of hope as the second significant predictor of optimism.

Venting that is "the tendency to focus on whatever distress or upset one is experiencing and to ventilate those feeling" (Carver et al., 1989, p. 269) was also found to be significant predictor in explaining the optimism level of students. Though this consequence somewhat contradicts the previous findings (e.g. Carver et al., 1989; Fontaine et al., 1993; Scheier et al., 1986), there are some studies in concord with it as well (e.g. Khan, Siraj, & Li, 2011). Nevertheless, venting may also have advantages for people. According to Carver et al. (1989) ventilations of emotions may sometimes be useful, such as in very stressful situations like loss of a loved one; though they also claimed that venting of emotions for a long time may hinder the adjustment. The possible explanation for this finding may be due to the cultural influences; where in Turkish culture, people express their feelings of distress more often and relieve by it. In other words, Turkish students may relieve by expressing their emotions about stress evoking situation and still carry positive expectations about future outcomes.

Besides, it was found that self-blame, behavioral disengagement, acceptance and denial negatively and significantly predicted optimism ($\beta = -.17$, p < .001; $\beta = -.14$, p < .001; $\beta = -.12$, p < .001; $\beta = -.12$, p < .001). The associations between optimism, self-blame, behavioral disengagement and denial are also in line with relevant literature (e.g. Carver et al., 1989; Fontaine et al., 1993; Harju & Bolen, 1998; Scheier et al., 1986; Wong, Lee, Ang, Oei, & Ng, 2009). It implies that students high in optimism use less avoidant coping strategies namely denial, disengagement coping, blaming oneself etc. This finding is also crucial since people often use avoidance coping strategies (denial, disengagement coping etc.) to lessen the stress or thwart anxiety when the emotional resources are limited or the situation is not controllable (Roth & Cohen, 1986). According to the current study finding, we may presume that this inverse relationship may also be related to the emotion-focused coping strategies (e.g. positive reframing, venting) employed by Turkish university students. That is to say, optimistic students may use less avoidant coping strategies since they are emotionally more resourceful.

Acceptance is also an emotion-focused coping strategy which is the opposite pole of denial. According to Carver et al. (1989) acceptance is a functional coping strategy that accepting the situation may prompt person to deal with stress initially and make person goal-engaged eventually (Scheier & Carver, 2001). It is mostly preferred in uncontrollable situations as well. Conversely, present study results revealed that acceptance inversely predicted the optimism level of students, that is to say, optimistic students use less acceptance as a coping strategy. This finding contradicts the previous literature which mostly reveals positive correlation between optimism and acceptance type of coping (i.e. Carver et al., 2010; Carver et al., 1989; Scheier et al., 1986).

5.2. Implications of the Findings

Considering the findings of the present study, several implications for practice in counseling field can be drawn. These implications are mentioned below.

It is well stated in the literature that positive expectations about future lead to increase attempt in reaching the wished goals; on the other hand, negative expectations may lessen the endeavor to be taken and person may disengage from goal pursuit (Nes & Segerstrom, 2006).

According to Scheier and Carver (1992) when individuals face with difficulty, they either continue their behavior or give up and turn away. With this framework, optimistic people are regarded as those who continue in their effort and see the outcome as attainable even in the face of adversity. However, pessimistic people -who see outcomes as out of reach- may give up and turn away in their goal pursuit when faced with impediments. The stance of optimistic people makes them closer to their chosen goals, while they also adopt positive coping ways to reach them.

Considering the results of the present study, it is obvious that Turkish university students, who are high in optimism, are both mentally motivated in their goal pursuit and also produce alternative paths in reaching their desired goals. It can be argued that, when working with less optimistic students, counselors may firstly use agency building techniques so as to motivate students toward their goals. According to Snyder et al. (2002) there are various agency building techniques; such as,

developing and re-examining the goals, choosing a realistic, crucial but challenging goal and changing the negative goal-related thinking with positive ones by teaching positive statements like "I can do this", "I am capable person". Ones the agency is increased; counselors may help clients to determine plans to reach their desired aims. According to Snyder et al. (2002) high agency is meaningless if it cannot be invested in tangible and proper plans. Therefore, counselors may help clients to break large goals into smaller ones so as to arrange them into feasible order. Ones the students reach their sub-goal, confidence and motivation is indispensable which make them eager to carry on the next sub-goal.

In addition, counselors may help students in assessing their personal capabilities to see if they need additional skill development to reach their goals. Moreover, counselors may provide the in vivo example of person using positive psychology constructs (i.e. hope, optimism) and encourage students to verbalize his/her dedication to therapeutic change even impediments is still present (see also Cheavens, Feldman, Woodward, & Snyder, 2006).

In the present study, it is found that positive reappraisal is a significant and prevalent predictor of optimism. As mentioned before, it construes the stressful condition in a positive term which eventually may lead to initiation of active problem focused strategies. Though it is an emotion focused coping strategy, it has many benefits to individuals; such as, it lessens the negative emotions (Kraft, Claiborn, & Dowd, 1985), reduces the depressive symptoms (Beck & Strong, 1982) increases the purpose in life (Wrosch, Amir, & Miller, 2011) and also boosts the positive affect which ultimately contribute to the physical and psychological well-being (Shiota & Levenson, 2012). It can be argued that counselors may teach positive reframing so as to change the students' unconstructive statements into more constructive ones. Positive statements not only contribute to well-being of the students but also help them to think of alternative scenarios in a more confident manner when faced with adversity.

Another implication of the study is that, Turkish university students high in optimism adopt more emotion-focused strategies (positive reframing, venting) and stay away from less helpful coping practices (denial, behavioral disengagement, self-blame etc.). This is noteworthy because literature revealed that students use more problem-focused coping strategies to deal with academic stressors (Nes & Segerstrom, 2006). In addition, it is well known that emotion-focused coping strategies are mostly used in uncontrollable situations when one cannot handle the source of the problem. On the other hand, in problem-focused coping strategies person feel the control and manage stressor by defining the problem, generating alternative ways, learning skills to manage the stressor. Hence, it can be argued that counselors may develop training programs or workshops to promote the active coping strategies of students. Regarding the results of the acceptance, it contradicts the most of the relevant literature. Moreover, beta values showed the similar effect sizes for denial and acceptance which obscure the interpretation of data. Thus, replication of similar studies which explore the association between optimism and acceptance may give better understanding of two constructs.

According to the study results we may make a brief summary by leaving out the result related to acceptance. Optimistic students are motivated and energetic in their goal pursuit. They may think of various routes to reach their goals and do not bogged down with potential impediments. In reaching their goal, they interpret the stressful situation in positive terms which eventually lead them to carry on active, problem-focused coping actions. They may have tendency to focus on distressing situation but they may ventilate their negative feelings. Optimistic students neither deny the reality of potential problems or stressful situation nor give up dealing with stress. Also, they do not criticize themselves in their goal pursuit.

5.3. Recommendations for Future Research

For future research, it is recommended that there should be more empirical studies exploring the associations between optimism, hope and coping strategies among university students. It is seen that, though there are various research on optimism and coping strategies, studies investigating hope and optimism are very scarce. In addition, there are very few studies examine the three concepts among university students. Second, the present study is limited with the participants studying in a private university. Therefore, it is crucial to examine the contribution of hope and coping strategies in optimism level of students in public/other universities. Furthermore, to increase the generalizability of the study results rather than convenient sampling, random sampling technique may be used. In addition since the present study is limited with university students, it may be beneficial to conduct the study with different age groups and backgrounds (i.e. adolescents, workers etc.) to understand the factors associated in predicting optimism in different samples. It is also recommended that the future studies should include longitudinal designs in order to explore the cause-effect relations between these variables. Moreover, path analysis may offer valuable information about the possible relations between these constructs.

Lastly, given that the item loadings and factor structure of Brief COPE is difficult to interpret and use in analysis, researchers may utilize an alternative coping scale that is more feasible to apply in research part and more suitable for Turkish culture (i.e. Şenol-Durak, Durak, & Elagöz, 2011).

REFERENCES

- Akman, Y., & Korkut, F. (1993). Umut ölçeği üzerine bir çalışma [A study on the hope scale]. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, *9*, 193-202.
- Alarcon, G. M., Bowling, N. A., & Khazon, S. (2013). Great expectations: A metaanalytic examination of optimism and hope. *Personality & Individual Differences*, 54(7), 821-827. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2012.12.004.
- Alınmış, R. K. (2011). The explanatory relationship among self-esteem, problem solving, ways of coping, social support and suicidal ideation of patients with schizophrenia. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Aspinwall, L. G., & Taylor, S. E. (1997). A stitch in time: Self-regulation and proactive coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, 121(3), 417-436. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.121.3.417.
- Atik, G., & Kemer, G. (2009). Çocuklarda umut ölçeğinin psikometrik özellikleri: Geçerlik ve güvenirlik çalışması. [Psychometric properties of children's hope scale: Validity and reliability study]. İlköğretim Online, 8(2), 379-390.
- Ayaz, T. (2011). The contributory roles of attachment styles, coping and affect regulation strategies on bereavement. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Aydın, G., & Tezer, E. (1991). İyimserlik, sağlık sorunları ve akademik başarı ilişkisi [The relationship of optimism to health complaints and academic performance]. *Psikoloji Dergisi*, 7(26), 2-9.
- Balcı, S., & Yılmaz, M. (2002). İyimserlik ölçeğinin geliştirilmesi: Geçerlik ve güvenirlik çalışması [The Development of optimism scale: Validity and reliability study]. Ondokuz Mayıs Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 14, 54-60.

- Barrow, J. C. (1982). Coping-skills training: A brief therapy approach for students with evaluative anxiety. *Journal of American College Health*, *30*(6), 269-274. doi:10.1080/07448481.1982.9938906.
- Beck, J. T., & Strong, S. R. (1982). Stimulating therapeutic change with interpretations: A comparison of positive and negative connotation. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 29(6), 551-559. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.29.6.551.
- Bilgen, I. (2010). The examination of the roles of parental acceptance rejection/control, personality traits and coping strategies on psychological distress. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Boniwell, I. (2012). *Positive psycholgy in a nutshell: The science of happiness* (3rd ed.). London: Open University Press.
- Brissette, I., Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (2002). The role of optimism in social network development, coping, and psychological adjustment during a life transition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(1), 102-111. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.82.1.102.
- Brown, S. D. (1983). Coping skills training: Attitude toward mental illness, depression and quality of life 1 year later. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *30*(1), 117-120.
- Bryant, F. B., & Cvengros, J. A. (2004). Distinguishing hope and optimism: Two sides of a coin, or two separate coins?. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 23(2), 273-302. doi:10.1521/jscp.23.2.273.31018.
- Carver, C. S. (1997). You want to measure coping but your protocol's too long: Consider the Brief COPE. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *4*, 92-100.
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1981). Attention and self-regulation: A control theory approach to human behavior. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (2001). Optimism, pessimism, and self-regulation. In E. C. Chang (Ed.), *Optimism and pessimism: Implications for theory, research, and practice* (pp. 31-51). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (2002). Optimism. In C. R. Snyder & S. J. Lopez (Eds.), *Handbook of positive psychology* (pp. 231-243). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Segerstrom, S. C. (2010). Optimism. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *30*(7), 879-889. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2010.01.006.
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: A theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(2), 267-283.
- Cheavens, J. S., Feldman, D. B., Woodward, J. T., & Snyder, C. R. (2006). Hope in cognitive psychotherapies: On working with client strength. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 20(2), 135-145.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S. G., & Aiken, L. S. (2003). *Applied multiple regression/correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences* (3rd ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Cook, R. D., & Weisberg, S. (1982). *Residuals and influence in regression*. London: Chapman and Hall.
- Demokan, A. (2010). The influence of social support, perceived control, locus of control and job/home demands on coping with work-family conflict. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Denizli, S. (2004). *The role of hope and study skills in predicting test anxiety level of university students*. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Dursun, P. (2012). *The role of meaning in life, optimism, hope and coping styles in subjective well-being*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Ekşi, H. (2010). Üniversite öğrencilerinin kişilik özellikleri ile başa çıkma tarzları: Kanonik korelasyonel bir analiz [Personality and coping among Turkish college students: A canonical correlation analysis]. *Kuram ve Uygulamada Eğitim Bilimleri, 10*(4), 2159-2176.
- Elçi, Ö. (2004). Predictive values of social support, coping styles and stress level in posttraumatic growth and burnout levels among the parents of children with autism. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Eryılmaz, A., & Atak, H. (2011). Ergen öznel iyi oluşunun özsaygı ve iyimserlik eğilimi ile ilişkisinin incelenmesi [The relationship between adolescent subjective well-being, self-esteem and optimism]. *Elektronik Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 10(37), 170-181.
- Field, A. (2009). *Discovering statistics using SPSS* (3rd ed.). London: Sage Publications.
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1985). If it changes it must be a process: A study of emotion and coping during three stages of a college examination. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 48, 150-170.
- Fontaine, K. R., Manstead, A. S. R. & Wagner, H. (1993). Optimism, perceived control over stress and coping. *European Journal of Personality*, 7, 267–281.
- Gallagher, M., & Lopez, S. (2009). Positive expectancies and mental health: identifying the unique contributions of hope and optimism. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 4(6), 548-556. doi:10.1080/17439760903157166.
- Geers, A., Wellman, J., & Lassiter, G. (2009). Dispositional optimism and engagement: the moderating influence of goal prioritization. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *96*(4), 913-932. doi:10.1037/a0014830.
- Geers, A., Wellman, J., Seligman, L., Wuyek, L., & Neff, L. (2010). Dispositional optimism, goals, and engagement in health treatment programs. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 33(2), 123-134. doi:10.1007/s10865-009-9238-z.
- Gillham, J. E., Reivich, K. J., Jaycox, L. H., & Seligman, M. E. P. (1995). Prevention of depressive symptoms in schoolchildren: Two-year follow-up. *Psychological Science*, 6, 343-351.
- Güler. Ö., & Çınar, S. (2010). Hemşirelik öğrencilerinin algıladıkları stresörler ve kullandıkları başetme yöntemlerinin belirlenmesi [Determining to the perceived stressors and the used coping strategies of nursing department students]. Maltepe Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Bilim ve Sanatı Dergisi, [Sempozyum Özel Sayısı], 3, 253-260.

- Gündoğdu, M. (2010). Üniversite öğrencilerinde yaşam yönelimi [Life orientations among university students]. *Eğitim ve Bilim, 35*(157), 192-199.
- Harju, B. L., & Bolen, L. M. (1998). The effects of optimism on coping and perceived quality of life in college students. *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, 13(2), 185-200.
- Hatchett, G. T., & Park, H. L. (2004). Relationships among optimism, coping styles, psychopathology, and counseling outcome. *Personality & Individual Differences*, 36(8), 1755 - 1769. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2003.07.014.
- Hutz-Midgett, A., Doumas, D. M., Dickinson, B., Dondero, A., Johnson, M. K., & Kimball, J. (2012). Untangling hope and optimism: Implications for counselors. *Ideas and Research You Can Use: VISTAS*, 1, 1-9.
- Karaırmak, Ö. (2007). Investigation of personal qualities contributing to psyhological resilience among earthquake survivors: a model testing study. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Kemer, G. (2006). *The role of self-efficacy, hope and anxiety in predicting university entrance examination scores of eleventh grade students*. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Khan, A., Siraj, S., & Li., L.P. (2011, November). *Role of positive psychological strengths and big five personality traits in coping mechanism of university students.* Paper presented at the International Conference on Humanities, Society and Culture, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
- Kraft, R. G., Claiborn, C. D., & Dowd, E. (1985). Effects of positive reframing and paradoxical directives in counseling for negative emotions. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *32*(4), 617-621. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.32.4.617.
- Krypel, M. N., & Henderson-King, D. (2010). Stress, coping styles, and optimism: Are they related to meaning of education in students' lives?. Social Psychology of Education, 13(3), 409-424. doi:10.1007/s11218-010-9132-0.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal and coping*. New York: Springer Publishing.

- Lazarus, R. S., & Lazarus, B. N. (2006). *Coping with aging*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2002). Building a practically useful theory of goal setting and task motivation: A 35-year odysse. *American Psychologist*, 57(9), 705-717. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.57.9.705.
- Magaletta, P., & Oliver, J. (1999). The hope construct, will, and ways: Their relations with self-efficacy, optimism, and general well-being. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 55(5), 539-551.
- Nadir, U. (2010). Examination of the roles of family functioning, coping styles and basic personality characteristics on depression and anxiety symptoms of mothers. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Nes, L., & Segerstrom, S. C. (2006). Dispositional optimism and coping: A metaanalytic review. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 10(3), 235-251.
- Otlu, F. N. (2010). College adjustment of international students: The role of gender, acculturative stress, coping skills, cultural distance, and perceived social support. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Otrar, M., Ekşi, H., Dilmaç, B., & Şirin, A. (2002). Türkiye'de öğrenim gören Türk ve akraba topluluk öğrencilerinin stres kaynakları, başaçıkma tarzları ile ruh sağlığı arasındaki ilişki üzerine bir araştırma [The Sources of stress, coping, and psychological well-being among Turkic and relative societies' students in Turkey]. *Kuram ve Uygulamada Eğitim Bilimleri, 2*(2), 501-506.
- Önder, N. (2012). The mediating role of coping strategies in the basic personality traits PTG and locus of control PTG relationships in breast cancer patients. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Parmaksız, İ., & Avşaroğlu, S. (2012). Öğretmen adaylarının benlik saygısı düzeylerine göre iyimserlik ve stresle başaçıkma stillerinin incelenmesi [Examining the teacher candidates' levels of optimism and styles of coping with stress according to their self-esteem levels]. İlköğretim Online, 11(2), 543-555.

- Plomin, R., Scheier, M. F., Bergeman, C. S., Pedersen, N. L., Nesselroade, J. R., & McClearn, G. E. (1992). Optimism, pessimism and mental health: A twin/adoption analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 13(8), 921-930. doi:10.1016/0191-8869(92)90009-E.
- Rand, K. L. (2009). Hope and optimism: Latent structures and influences on grade expectancy and academic performance. *Journal of Personality*, 77(1), 231-260. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2008.00544.x.
- Rand, K. L., Martin, A., D., & Shea, A. M. (2011). Hope, but not optimism, predicts academic performance of law students beyond previous academic achievement. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 45, 683-686.
- Robinson, C., & Snipes, K. (2009). Hope, optimism and self-efficacy: A system of competence and control enhancing African American college students academic well-being. *Multiple Linear Regression Viewpoints*, 35(2), 16-26.
- Roth, S., & Cohen, L. J. (1986). Approach, avoidance, and coping with stress. *American Psychologist, 41*(7), 813-819. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.41.7.813.
- Salzgeber, A. (2012). An examination of an optimism training intervention on optimism levels of NCAA Division 1 atheltes: A single subject design. Unpublished master's thesis, Georgia Southern University, Statesboro, Georgia.
- Sarı-Cenk, D. (2008). *The relationship between parenting style, gender and academic achievement with optimism among adolescents*. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Sariot, Ö. (2011). The mediator role of parenting behaviors between children's witnessing interparental violence and children's coping with interpersonal and academic stressors. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (1985). Optimism, coping, and health: Assessment and implications of generalized outcome expectancies. *Health Psychology*, 4(3), 219-247.
- Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (1992). Effects of optimism on psychological and physical well-being: Theoretical overview and empirical update. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 16(2), 201-228.

- Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (1993). On the power of positive thinking: The benefits of being optimistic. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 2(1), 26-30. doi:10.1111/1467-8721.ep10770572.
- Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (2001). Adapting to cancer: The importance of hope and purpose. In A. Baum & B.L. Andersen (Eds.), *Psychosocial interventions for cancer* (pp. 15-36). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Scheier, M. F., Carver, C. S., & Bridges, M. W. (2001). Optimism, pessimism, and psychological well-being. In E. C. Chang (Ed.), *Optimism and pessimism: Implications for theory, research, and practice* (pp. 189-216). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Scheier, M. F., Weintraub, J., & Carver, C. S. (1986). Coping with stress: Divergent strategies of optimists and pessimists. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1257-1264.
- Segerstrom, S., Taylor, S., Kemeny, M., & Fahey, J. (1998). Optimism is associated with mood, coping, and immune change in response to stress. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(6), 1646-1655.
- Shiota, M. N., & Levenson, R.W. (2012). Turn down the volume or change the channel? Emotional effects of detached versus positive reappraisal. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *103*(3), 416-429.
- Snyder, C. R. (1994). *The psychology of hope: You can get here from there*. New York: The Free Press.
- Snyder, C. R. (1995). Conceptualizing, measuring, and nurturing hope. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 73(3), 355-360.
- Snyder, C. R. (2002). Hope theory: Rainbows in the mind. *Psychological Inquiry*, 13(4), 249-275.
- Snyder, C. R., Feldman, B. D., Shorey, H. S., & Rand, K. L. (2002). Hopeful choices: A school counselor's guide to hope theory. *Professional School Counseling*, 5(5), 298-307.

- Snyder, C. R., Harris, C., Anderson, J. R., Holleran, S. A., Irving, L. M., Sigmon, S. T., & ... Harney, P. (1991). The will and the ways: Development and validation of an individual-differences measure of hope. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 60(4), 570-585. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.60.4.570.
- Snyder, C. R., Hoza, B., Pelham, W. E., Rapoff, M., Ware, L., Danovsky, M., Highberger, L., Ribinstein, H., & Stahl, K. J. (1997). The development and validation of the children's hope scale. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 22(3), 399-421.
- Snyder, C. R., Rand, K. L., & Sigmon, D. R. (2002). Hope theory: A member of the positive psychology family. In C. R. Snyder & S. Lopez (Eds.), *Handbook of positive psychology* (pp. 257-266). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Snyder, C. R., Sympson, S. C., Michael, S. T., & Cheavens, J. (2001). The optimism and hope constructs: Variants on a positive expectancy theme. In E. C. Chang (Ed.), *Optimism and pessimism: Implications for theory, research, and practice* (pp. 101-125). Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Snyder, C. R., Sympson, S. C., Ybasco, F. C., Borders, T. F., Babyak, M. A., & Higgins, R. L. (1996). Development and validation of the state hope scale. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70(2), 321-335. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.70.2.321.
- Stevens, J. P. (2002). *Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences* (4th ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Şahin, N. H., & Durak, A. (1995). Stresle başaçıkma tarzları ölçeği: Üniversite öğrencileri için uyarlanması [Ways of coping with stress scale: An adaptation study for university students]. *Türk Psikoloji Dergisi*, 10(34), 56-73.
- Şar, A. H., & Işıklar, A. (2012). Denetim odağı, öznel iyi oluş ve iyimserliğin sportif güvenin yordayıcıları olarak incelenmesi [Examination of locus of control, subjective well-being and optimism as the predictors of sport confidence]. *Niğde Üniversitesi Beden Eğitimi ve Spor Bilimleri Dergisi*, 6(1), 76-84.
- Şenol-Durak, E., Durak, M., & Elagöz, F. (2011). Testing the psychometric properties of the Ways of Coping Questionnaire (WCQ) in Turkish university students and community samples. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*,18(2), 172-185. doi:10.1002/cpp.677.

- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics (5th ed.). Boston: Pearson.
- Terzi, Ş. (2008). Üniversite öğrencilerinde kendini toparlama gücünün içsel koruyucu faktörlerle ilişkisi [The relationship between resilience and internal protective factors among university students]. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 35,* 297-306.
- Tuna, M. E. (2003). Cross-cultural differences in coping strategies as predictors of university adjustment of Turkish and U.S. students. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Tuna, M. E., & Tezer, E. (2011, Ekim). *Başa çıkma stratejileri ölçeği kısa formu: Bir* ön çalışma [A short form of coping strategies scale: A pilot study]. 11. Ulusal psikolojik danışma ve rehberlik kongresinde sunulan bildiri, İzmir/Selçuk.
- Tuncay-Senlet. E. (2012). Domestic violence against women in relations to marital adjustment and psychological well-being, with the effects of attachment, marital coping, and social support. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Uğurlu, O. (2011). Genel ve zihinsel sağlığın yordayıcıları olarak iyimserlik ve karamsarlık [Optimism and pessimism as predictors of general and mental health]. *Çankaya University Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 8(1), 81–90.
- Uzun-Özer, B., & Tezer, E. (2008). Umut ve olumlu-olumsuz duygular arasındaki ilişkiler [Relationship between hope and positive negative affect]. *Dokuz* Eylül Üniversitesi Buca Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 23, 81-86.
- Wesson, C. J., & Derrer-Rendall, N. M. (2011). Self-beliefs and student goal achievement. *Psychology Teaching Review*, 17(1), 3-12.
- Wong, S., Lee, B., Ang, R. P., Oei, T. S., & Ng, A. (2009). Personality, health, and coping: A cross-national study. Cross-Cultural Research: The Journal of Comparative Social Science, 43(3), 251-279.
- Wrosch, C., Amir, E., & Miller, G. E. (2011). Goal adjustment capacities, coping, and subjective well-being: The sample case of caregiving for a family member with mental illness. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*,100(5), 934-946. doi:10.1037/a0022873.

- Yalçındağ, B. (2009). Relationships between courage, self-construals and other associated variables. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.
- Yola, İ. (2011). The mediating roles of coping styles and perceived social support between dispositional hope and posttraumatic growth/ptsd relationships among postoperative breast cancer patients: A longitudinal study. Unpublished master's thesis, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION FORM

Ekli ankette üniversite öğrencilerinin yaşam deneyimlerini çeşitli yönleriyle incelemek amacıyla yapılan bir araştırma için bilgi toplamaya yönelik olarak hazırlanmış sorular bulunmaktadır. Sizden istenen ankette yer alan soruları dikkatle okumanız ve içtenlikle yanıtlamanızdır. Sorulara verdiğiniz yanıtların doğruluğu ya da yanlışlığı söz konusu değildir. Önemli olan verdiğiniz yanıtların eksiksiz olması ve sizi doğru yansıtmasıdır. Lütfen her maddeyi okuyup durumunuzu en iyi yansıtan bir seçeneği işaretleyiniz. Sizden isminizi yazmanız istenmemektedir. Verdiğiniz bilgiler yalnız araştırma amacıyla kullanılacak ve tüm yanıtlarınız gizli tutulacaktır. Araştırmaya katkılarınız ve içtenlikle verdiğinizle inandığımız yanıtlarınız için şimdiden teşekkür ederim.

> Sueda Özcan Ceran Yüksek Lisans Öğrencisi ODTÜ Eğitim Bilimleri Bölümü

Cinsiyet: K() E()				
Yaş:				
Fakülte/Bölüm:	•••••	•••••		•••
Sınıf: Hazırlık () 1 ()	2()	3()	4()	

APPENDIX B

LIFE ORIENTATION TEST (LOT)

Aşağıda 12 cümle verilmiştir. Her cümleyi dikkatle okuyarak beşli ölçek üzerinde

size uygun olan dereceyi işaretleyiniz. 'Doğru' ya da 'Yanlış' cevap söz konusu

değildir. Yardımlarınız için teşekkür ederim.

0	1	2		3			4
Kesinlikle	Katılmıyorum	Kararsızım	Katılı	yorun	n	Kesin	likle
katılmıyorum	1					katılı	yorum
1. Ne olacağı	ının önceden kestiril	emediği	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
durumlarda h	nep en iyi sonucu be	klerim.		(1)	(-)		
2. Kolayca ge	evşeyip rahatlayabili	irim.	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
3. Bir işimin ters gitme olasılığı varsa mutlaka ters gider.			(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
4. Her şeyi he	ep iyi tarafından alır	1m.	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
5. Geleceğim	konusunda hep iyir	nserimdir.	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
6. Arkadaşlar	ımla birlikte olmakt	an hoşlanırım.	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
7. Yapacak b önemlidir.	ir şeylerimin olması	benim için	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
8. İşlerin ister beklemem.	diğim gibi yürüyece	ğini nerdeyse hiç	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
9. Hiçbir şey	benim istediğim yör	nde gelişmez	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
10. Moralim	öyle kolay kolay bo	zulmaz.	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
11. Her türlü	olayda bir iyi yan b	ulmaya çalışırım.	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
12. Başıma iy bağlamam.	yi şeylerin geleceğin	e pek bel	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)

APPENDIX C

DISPOSITIONAL HOPE SCALE (DHS)

Aşağıda 12 cümle verilmiştir. Her cümleyi dikkatle okuyarak dörtlü ölçek üzerinde

size uygun olan dereceyi işaretleyiniz. 'Doğru' ya da 'Yanlış' cevap söz konusu

değildir. Yardımlarınız için teşekkür ederm.

1	2	3			4	1
Kesinlikle	Kısmen	Kısmen			Kesin	likle
katılmıyorum	katılmıyorum	katılıyorum		katılıyorun		
1. Sıkıntılı bir du düşünebilirim.	rumdan kurtulmak için pe	k çok yol	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
2. Enerjik bir biç	imde amaçlarıma ulaşmay	a çalışırım.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
3. Çoğu zaman k	endimi yorgun hissederim		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
4. Herhangi bir problemin birçok çözüm yolu vardır.		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
5. Tartışmalarda	kolayca yenik düşerim.		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
6. Sağlığım için	endişeliyim.		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
7. Benim için çol yol düşünebilirin	k önemli şeylere ulaşmak i 1.	çin pek çok	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
8. Başkalarının p bir yol bulabilece	es ettiği durumlarda bile, s eğimi bilirim.	sorunu çözecek	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
9. Geçmiş yaşant	ularım beni geleceğe en iy	i biçimde	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
hazırladı.						
10. Hayatta oldu	kça başarılı olmuşumdur.		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
11. Genellikle endişelenecek bir şeyler bulurum.		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
12. Kendim için	koyduğum hedeflere ulaşıı	rım.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)

APPENDIX D

BRIEF COPE SCALE

Bu ölçekte öğrencilerin üniversite yaşantılarında kullandıkları başa çıkma yollarını tanımlayan 28 madde bulunmaktadır. Her cümleyi dikkatle okuyarak dörtlü ölçek üzerinde size uygun olan dereceyi işaretleyiniz. 'Doğru' ya da 'Yanlış' cevap söz konusu değildir. Yardımlarınız için teşekkür ederim.

1	2 3			4	
Bun	u hiç Bunu çok az Bunu orta			Bunu	çok
yap	nıyorum yapıyorum derecede yapıy	orum		yapıy	orum
1	Zihnimi hoseltmek join kondimi joe vove dižer	(1)	(2)	(2)	(A)
1.	etkinliklere veriyorum.		(2)		(4)
2.	Tüm çabamı içinde bulunduğum durum için birşeyler yapmaya yoğunlaştırıyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
3.	Kendime "bu gerçek değil" diyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
4.	Kendimi daha iyi hissetmek için alkol veya diğer maddeleri kullanıyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
5.	Diğer insanlardan duygusal destek alıyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
6.	Başa çıkmaya çalışmaktan vazgeçiyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
7.	Durumu daha iyi yapmaya çalışmak için harekete geçiyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
8.	Böyle bir şey olduğuna inanmayı reddediyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
9.	Kendime rahatsız edici duygulardan kurtulmamı sağlayan şeyler söylüyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
10.	Diğer insanlardan yardım ve tavsiye alıyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
11.	Bu durumu atlatabilmek için alkol veya başka maddeler kullanıyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
12.	Sorunu farklı bir gözle görmeye, onun daha olumlu görünmesini sağlamaya çalışıyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
13.	Kendimi eleştiriyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
14.	Ne yapmam gerektiğine ilişkin bir yol bulmaya çalışıyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
15.	Beni rahatlatan ve bana anlayış gösteren birisini buluyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
16.	Başa çıkma girişimlerimden vazgeçiyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
17.	Olup bitenlerde olumlu bir şeyler arıyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
18.	Durumla ilgili şakalar yapıyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)

1	2	3			4	
Bunu hiç	Bunu çok az	Bunu orta			Bunu	çok
yapmıyorum	yapıyorum	derecede yapıy	orum		уарту	orum
19. Sorunu daha	az düşünmek için sine	maya gitmek, TV	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
seyretmek, c	kumak, hayal kurmak,	uyumak, alışveriş				
yapmak gibi	şeyler yapıyorum.					
20. Bu durumun	gerçek olduğunu kabu	l ediyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
21. Olumsuz du	ygularımı ifade ediyoru	ım.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
22. Huzuru dins	el veya diğer inançlarır	nda bulmaya	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
çalışıyorum.						
23. Ne yapabile	ceğim konusunda diğer	insanlardan tavsiye	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ve yardım al	maya çalışıyorum.					
24. Bu durumla	yaşamayı öğreniyorum	l.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
25. Hangi adıml	arı atacağım konusund	a çok düşünüyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
26. Olup bitenle	r için kendimi suçluyor	rum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
27. Dua ediyoru	m veya meditasyon yap	piyorum.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
28. Bu durumla	dalga geçiyorum.		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)

APPENDIX E

TEZ FOTOKOPİSİ İZİN FORMU

<u>ENSTİTÜ</u>

Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü	
Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü	
Uygulamalı Matematik Enstitüsü	
Enformatik Enstitüsü	
Deniz Bilimleri Enstitüsü	
VAZARIN	

Soyadı : Özcan Ceran

Adı : Sueda Bölümü : Eğitim Bilimleri

TEZİN ADI (İngilizce) : The role of hope and coping styles in optimism

Doktora

TEZİN TÜRÜ : Yüksek Lisans

1. Tezimin tamamından kaynak gösterilmek şartıyla fotokopi alınabilir.

- 2. Tezimin içindekiler sayfası, özet, indeks sayfalarından ve/veya bir bölümünden kaynak gösterilmek şartıyla fotokopi alınabilir.
- 3. Tezimden bir bir (1) yıl süreyle fotokopi alınamaz.

TEZİN KÜTÜPHANEYE TESLİM TARİHİ: